### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS 1

16

15

1 ...

+----

1

PAL 1

### MICHAEL FLEISCHER

CONTENTS

50th Amniversory Volume

GL03755

	/
Abstract	970
Introduction	970
The chalcophilic elements	972
Mode of occurrence of minor elements	972
Isomorphous substitution in sulfide minerals	972
Effects of conditions of formation on minor-element content	974
Minor elements in sulfide minerals	975
Galena	975
Sphalerite, wurtzite and "schalenblende"	983
Chalcopyrite	995
Pyrite and marcasite	9999
Pyrrhotite and troilite	1005
Arsenopyrite	1013
Distribution of elements among co-existing minerals	1015
Galena-sphalerite	1015
Pyrite-pyrrhotite	1016
Pyrite-chalcopyrite and associated minerals	1016
Concluding remarks	1017
References	1017

### ABSTRACT

Data in the literature on the minor element content of galena, sphalerite and wurtzite, chalcopyrite, pyrite and marcasite, pyrrhotite, and arsenopyrite are summarized, with comments as to the significance of the results with respect to the temperatures and other conditions of formation.

#### INTRODUCTION

THE minor elements in sulfide ores have been investigated intensively during the past hundred years. The early work was aimed at finding new elements and new sources of the rarer elements; among the accomplishments of these studies were the discovery in sphalerite of the new elements indium by Reich and Richter in 1863, and gallium by Boisbaudran in 1874. The development of spectrographic methods of analysis has led to a great increase in the number of samples analyzed and has also resulted in a shift in the type of data reported from purely qualitative in the earlier work, to semiquantitative during the 1920's and 1930's, to a preponderance of quantitative analyses during the past 15 years.

The emphasis has also shifted; the aim of many of the recent investigations has been to obtain information about the processes of ore formation.

<sup>1</sup> Publication authorized by the Director, U. S. Geological Survey.

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

Gavelin and Gabrielson (61, p. 3)  $^{2}$  put it, "From a metallurgical point of view it is obviously of great importance to know the amount and distribution even of small concentrations of certain chemical elements that may be of importance for the refining processes and which may influence the character of the substances to be extracted from the ore. From a theoretical point of view a knowledge of the distribution of the minor constituents may in certain cases be expected to be valuable in elucidating the history of the formation of an ore deposit." Attention has been directed especially towards the correlation of the content of minor elements with the conditions of formation, particularly the temperature of formation.

H																	He
Li	Be											В	С	N	0	F	Ne
Na	Mg											Αl	Si	Ρ	X	C۱	Α
K	Ca	Sc	Τi	K	S.	R	Fe	Co	Νι	<u>E</u>	They a	(Ja)	Ge	Þ.s	59	Br	Kr
Rb	S <del>r.</del>	Υŧ	Zr	66	Mo	Tc	Ru	Rh	Pd	Ka	(A)	S.	Sn	56	Va	Ι	Xe
Cs	Ba	*	Hf	X3	X	Re	0s:	l-	Pł	Au	H	H)	(H)	G.	Po	At	Rn
Fr	Ra	Ac	Th	Pa	Ĥ												

La	Ce	Pr	Nd	Pm	Sm	Eu	
GJ	Tb	Dy	Ho	Er	Tm	Yb	
Lu							-

FIG. 1. The chalcophilic elements. Shading to left—chalcophilic elements; dotted—siderophilic elements that are also markedly concentrated in sulfides; shading to right—lithophilic elements that are also markedly concentrated in sulfides.

The purpose of this paper is to summarize the widely scattered information available on the minor-element content of those sulfides for which the most data have been obtained, namely galena, sphalerite and wurtzite, chalcopyrite, pyrite and marcasite, pyrrhotite, and arsenopyrite. The smattering of data available on many other sulfides has had to be omitted for lack of space.

The data have been summarized in tables, two for each mineral. The first is a list of pertinent references with an indication of the type of analysis (qualitative, semiquantitative, or quantitative), and the elements detected or determined. The second table for each mineral summarizes the quantitative and semiquantitative determinations by arbitrarily selected concentration ranges. The figures given should be used with great caution. In the first place, in summary tables like these, one is forced, for example, to equate the

<sup>2</sup> Numbers in parentheses refer to references at end of paper.

E SULFIDE MINERALS <sup>1</sup> SISCHER

PAGE 970 970 972 als ..... 972 r-element content ..... 972 974 975 975 983 995 999 ..... 1013 erals ..... 1015 ..... 1015 ..... 1016 ..... 1016 ..... 1017 ..... 1017

ent content of galena, sphalerite isite, pyrrhotite, and arsenopythe significance of the results onditions of formation.

i investigated intensively during aimed at finding new elements of the accomplishments of these new elements indium by Reich audran in 1874. The developis led to a great increase in the ted in a shift in the type of data lier work, to semiquantitative trance of quantitative analyses

any of the recent investigations occesses of ore formation. As rical Survey. 971

"Not Found" of the analyst whose sensitivity was 200 ppm (parts per million) with the "Not Found" of the analyst whose sensitivity was 5 ppm. In the second place, the samples analyzed ranged from very carefully selected and purified material to gross mixtures. I have tried to indicate in the discussion of each mineral what elements reported might be due to adventitious impurities.

#### The Chalcophilic Elements

From the data available on the relative concentrations of the elements in the metallic, sulfidic, and silicate parts of meteorites, and from data on the free energies of formation, the elements can be grouped according to their tendencies to occur as sulfides rather than as silicates or metals. Those that tend to be enriched in the sulfide phase are called chalcophilic. Figure 1 shows these and also those that are mainly concentrated in the metallic phase or in the silicate phase, but occur to an appreciable degree in sulfides. It should be emphasized that the classification is based on relative concentrations in the different phases and is not a measure of total amounts in them. This may be illustrated by gallium, a chalcophilic element, whose concentration is higher in sulfides than in silicates; nevertheless, because the total amount of sulfides in the Earth's crust is a very small fraction of the silicate portion, the latter contains nearly all of the gallium of the crust.

### Mode of Occurrence of Minor Elements

Haberlandt (75), following Schneiderhöhn (169), has classified the ways in which minor elements occur in minerals. He distinguishes between occurrence as trace elements, including isomorphous substitution and adsorption, and occurrence as trace minerals. The last include the occurrence of distinct phases as oriented overgrowths, oriented intergrowths (for example those formed by exsolution), and various types of inclusions. The study of ore minerals by reflected light has shown that the occurrence of distinct phases of all these types is the rule, rather than the exception; a wealth of illustrations has been given by Bastin (10), Edwards (51), Ramdohr (153), and Schwartz (176) and need not be discussed here. The problem of isomorphous substitution in the sulfides does, however, require discussion.

#### Isomorphous Substitution in Sulfide Minerals

The naturally occurring oxides and silicates are predominantly ionic in character, that is, they are chiefly bonded by electrostatic attraction between oppositely charged ions. For this type of compound, the principal factor that determines the possibility of isomorphous substitution is one of volume, and a good first approximation to prediction of isomorphous substitution is given by Goldschmidt's rule that such substitution is possible if the ionic radii of the two elements being considered are within 15 percent of one another. An appreciable correction is necessary for the coordination number of the ion in the particular structure being considered, and recent work has shown

972

1. Car

### *FLEISCHER*

itivity was 200 ppm (parts per million) whose sensitivity was 5 ppm. In the nged from very carefully selected and have tried to indicate in the discussion red might be due to adventitious im-

### ilic Elements

tive concentrations of the elements in of meteorites, and from data on the ts can be grouped according to their nan as silicates or metals. Those that ase are called chalcophilic. Figure 1 inly concentrated in the metallic phase an appreciable degree in sulfides. It cation is based on relative concentraa measure of total amounts in them. chalcophilic element, whose concenicates; nevertheless, because the total is a very small fraction of the silicate it the gallium of the crust.

### of Minor Elements

erhöhn (169), has classified the ways als. He distinguishes between occurrphous substitution and adsorption, it include the occurrence of distinct intergrowths (for example those i inclusions. The study of ore is the occurrence of distinct phases in the occurrence of distinct phases in the exception; a wealth of illustra-Edwards (51), Ramdohr (153), and issed here. The problem of isomorhowever, require discussion.

### in in Sulfide Minerals

silicates are predominantly ionic in ed by electrostatic attraction between of compound, the principal factor that us substitution is one of volume, and of isomorphous substitution is given ution is possible if the ionic radii of within 15 percent of one another. for the coordination number of the usidered, and recent work has shown

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

973

STATES STATES

the need for taking into account such factors as electronegativity, polarizability, and ionic potential [see, for example, Pauling (144), Ahrens (3, 4), Goldschmidt (62, p. 80–125), Shaw (181), Szadeczky-Kardoss (189), Ringwood (158, 159), and Vendel (203)]. Nevertheless, the use of ionic radii

#### TABLE 1

Apparent	IONIC AND COVALENT RADII OF SOME ELEMENTS FR	ом
	Ahrens (1952) and Pauling (1940)	

	Ionic rac	lius (A)	Covalent radius (A)
Element	Valence	Radius	
Antimony	+3	0.76	1.41
Anonio	+3	0.58	1.21
Arsonia	+5	0.46	
Risemuth	+3	0.96	1.46
Cadmium	+2	0.97	1.48
Cabalt	$+\tilde{2}$	0.72	1.32
Cobait	<u>+1</u>	0.96	1.35
Copper	+2	0.72	
Copper	+3	0.62	1.26
Gamun	+2	0.73	1.22
Germanium	14	0.53	
Germanium		0.81	1.44
Indium		0.68	1.32
Iridium		0.74	1.23
Iron		0.64	
Iron		1 20	1.46
Lead		0.80	
Manganese		1 10	1.48
Mercury	+2	0.70	1.38
Molybdenum	+4	0.62	
Molybdenum	+0	0.69	1.39
Nickel	+2	0.09	1.33
Osmium	+0	0.80	1.31
Palladium	+2	0.65	
Palladium	+4	0.03	
Platinum	+2	0.65	1 31
Platinum	+4	0.03	1.51
Rhenium	+4	0.72	1 33
Ruthenium	+4	1.02	1.55
Selenium		1.96	1.17
Silver	+1	1.20	1.04
Sulfur	-2	1.04	1 37
Tellurium	-2	2.21	1.57
Tin	+2	0.93	1.72
Tin	+4	0.71	1.40
Thallium	+1	1.4/	1.47
Thallium	+3	0.95	1.47
Tungsten	+6	0.02	1.44
Vanadium	+5	0.59	1.21
Zinc	+2	0.74	1.31
	1	<u> </u>	

alone generally gives reasonably good predictions as to isomorphous substitutions.

The sulfides and sulfosalts, however, with the exception of galena (PbS) and alabandite (MnS), have mainly covalent bonding, in which the atoms are bonded by mutual sharing of electrons. Ionic radii do not apply to com-

pounds having this type of bonding. Table 1 lists ionic radii (after Ahrens, 3) and covalent or atomic radii (after Pauling, 144).

If one now attempts to predict isomorphism in the sulfides on the basis of either the ionic or the covalent radii and compares the predictions with the facts observed, as summarized in later sections of this paper, it is apparent that the agreement is very far from satisfactory. One reason for this is that the sulfides are not bonded entirely by covalent linkages; they behave as though they were bonded partly by ionic and partly by covalent linkages, and satisfactory representation of their bonding cannot be made except by considerations of quantum mechanics. Frueh (57) has shown that in some respects metallic bonding may need to be considered.

Ahrens (4, p. 22-23) has pointed out that "ionic radii may be used in a rather restricted way in sulfide minerals." If one examines the data for any mineral or pair of minerals, serious discrepancies appear. This can be illustrated by the pair galena-sphalerite. From the ionic radii (Pb 1.20 A, Zn 0.74 A), one would predict correctly that silver (1.26 A) and thallium (1.47 A) would be preferentially concentrated in galena, and that iron (0.74 A), manganese (0.80 A), gallium (0.62 A), and germanium (0.73 or 0.53 A) would be preferentially concentrated in sphalerite. One might predict correctly that indium (0.81 A) would appear in both minerals but with a preference for sphalerite and that tin (0.93 A) would appear in both minerals. One would certainly not predict, however, that bismuth (0.96 A) would appear almost exclusively in galena, whereas cadmium (0.97 A) appears almost exclusively in sphalerite, nor that antimony (0.76 A) is preferentially concentrated in galena, whereas mercury (1.10 A) is found more commonly in sphalerite than in galena. Nor does consideration of ionic potentials (4) improve the situation appreciably, except for mercury.

Similar difficulties of prediction are apparent with other minerals, and it is evident that at present predictions of isomorphous substitution in the sulfides cannot be safely made. The application of the methods of quantum mechanics, as by consideration of the energy levels required to form different types of directed covalent bonds, seems to offer the best hope of progress.

#### Effects of Conditions of Formation on Minor-Element Content

Many investigators have tried to use the minor-element content of sulfides as an indication of their temperature of formation, and some have drawn conclusions that are summarized below under the individual minerals. Haberlandt and Schroll (77) point out that the absolute amount of a given element or the relative proportions of two elements that can substitute isomorphously in a given mineral are affected (1) by conditions of temperature and pressure. (2) by regional factors, and (3) by factors relating to the type of wall rocks and the type of associated igneous rocks. Kullerud (110), in a very important paper, has studied equilibrium relations in the FeS-ZnS system and has shown that the iron content of sphalerite can be used as a geological thermometer, provided that the sphalerite was formed under equilibrium conditions in the presence of an excess of iron . (See further Ingerson, this

974

ののであるとないので、「日本の

and a set of the set of

1.1.6

### EISCHER

able 1 lists ionic radii (after Ahrens, auling, 144).

norphism in the sulfides on the basis and compares the predictions with the sections of this paper, it is apparent stactory. One reason for this is that y covalent linkages; they behave as and partly by covalent linkages, and ling cannot be made except by conrueh (57) has shown that in some be considered.

ut that "ionic radii may be used in a als." If one examines the data for 5 discrepancies appear. This can be

From the ionic radii (Pb 1.20 A, y that silver (1.26 A) and thallium itrated in galena, and that iron (0.74 A), and germanium (0.73 or 0.53 A) sphalerite. One might predict corppear in both minerals but with a <sup>3</sup>3 A) would appear in both minerals. ever, that bismuth (0.96 A) would reas cadmium (0.97 A) appears alitimony (0.76 A) is preferentially '.10 A) is found more commonly leration of ionic potentials (4) mercury.

nt with other minerals, and it is no. hous substitution in the sulfides of the methods of quantum mechanics, required to form different types of ne best hope of progress.

### n on Minor-Element Content

the minor-element content of sulfides f formation, and some have drawn ider the individual minerals. Haber-: absolute amount of a given element its that can substitute isomorphously iditions of temperature and pressure, ors relating to the type of wall rocks

Kullerud (110), in a very imporons in the FeS-ZnS system and has erite can be used as a geological tite was formed under equilibrium i iron. (See further Ingerson, this

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS 975

Volume, p. 341-410). Kullerud showed that as the content in sphalerite of the minor elements other than iron was less than the amount required to saturate ZnS with any of these elements, they could not be used as geologic thermometers. The argument applies to the minor elements in any other mineral. The same viewpoint has been expressed more emphatically by Fryklund and Harner (59) for pyrrhotite and by Fryklund and Fletcher (58) for sphalerite; the latter state, "Available evidence indicates that equilibrium concentrations of the minor elements except for Mn (Fe is considered a major element) were never attained in the Coeur d'Alene district, and consequently formation temperatures could not affect minor-element concentration." Similar conclusions were expressed by Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) from their study of the Skellefte district, Sweden.

There is no doubt that this view is theoretically correct; it leads logically to the view that the concentrations of minor elements in sulfide minerals depend solely on the amounts of these elements present in the ore-forming solution. Nevertheless, I believe that the available data support many of the generalizations that have been made linking the concentrations of minor elements with temperature of formation or other factors. For example, the work done to date shows that there is a strong tendency for high gallium, high germanium, and low indium contents in sphalerites from deposits of the Mississippi Valley type, generally believed to have formed at low temperatures. We have no explanation of why this is so; perhaps it means simply that gallium and germanium tend to be present in greater amounts in this type of ore-forming solutions. Better methods of geologic thermometry are much needed, but in their absence one is justified in using the geologist's judgment, based largely on paragenesis, of the type of deposit he is dealing with. It seems justifiable, also, to infer that a sphalerite of high gallium and germanium content was probably formed at low temperature, provided that it is clearly understood that exceptions are to be expected, as, for example, if a regional trend has a greater effect than the generally observed trend due to temperature of formation. Additional arguments, with many examples, in justification of such inferences are given by Haberlandt (73, 74) and by Haberlandt and Schroll (77).

#### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SULFIDE MINERALS

#### Galena

Table 2 gives a list of papers on the minor elements in galena and indicates the type of data, the number of samples, and the elements found by each worker. Table 3 summarizes the quantitative and semi-quantitative data on the elements for which there are many determinations. Comments on these and data on the other elements are given below.

Antimony.—Antimony has been reported to be present in most samples of galena studied (Table 2). Wasserstein (210) found it in 80 percent of 60 samples studied, Pina de Rubies and Doetsch (145) in 88.3 percent of 562 samples, and Lopez de Azcona (119) in 84 percent of 720 samples; many

19.50

## 976

#### TABLE 2

### SUMMARY OF REFERENCES ON GALENA

Under Turse of Date. O means quantitative analysis. S means semi-quantitative analysis, K means qualitative analysis. Un	ider the elements
Under Type of Data, Q means quantitative analysis, o means being quantitative the stampt man looked for but not found.	
listed the symbol X means that the element was present, the symbol — means that the element was looked for, but not round.	
noted, the symbol at means that the clonical provider of the	

												1		1	1	I	
Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	As	Sb	Bi	Cd	Cu	Ga	Ge	Fe	Mn	Ag	Sn	TI	Zn	Others	
Anderson (1953) Bartlett '(1889) Bergenfelt (1953) Bernard (1953) Bernard (1954) Borovik and Prokopenko (1939) Borovik, Vlodavets and Prokopenko (1938) Claussen (1934)	Q, K Q K K K K K	19 1 7 3 2 7 1 5	x x	x x x	x	x x -	x x x	x -	x	x x x	x x	x x x	x x x	x	x x	In X In X, Hg X, Se X Se X In X In - Cr, Ir, Mo, Pd, Sr, V, W.	MICHAEL FLEIS
Eberhard (1908, 1910) Edwards and Carlos (1954) Erametsa (1939) Evrard (1945) Frondel et al. (1942) Fryklund and Fletcher (1955) Goldschmidt and Peters (1933) Goldschmidt and Strock (1935) de Gramont (1895)	K Q Q K K,S Q Q Q Q K	2 10 10 6 ? 1 1 1 2 ?		x		X -	x x	x x -	_	X X	x x	x x x		x	x	all X Sc X, Y X Se X In – Ba X, Cr X, Sr X Co –, In – Se X	CHER
Grip (1948)	Q	1					ļ									ng A	

Claussen (1938) Eberhard (1908, 1910) Edwards and Carlos (1954) Erametsa (1939)	K K Q	5 2 10	-	x	(* <b></b>		x			x	x	x	x	ß	x	In – Cr, Ir, Mo, Pd, Sr, V, W,
Evrard (1945) Frondel et al. (1942) Fryklund and Fletcher (1955) Goldschmidt and Peters (1933) Goldschmidt and Strock	K,S Q Q	10 6 ? 1 1		x		x -	x x	X X -	-	x x	x x	x x x		x	x	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
(1935) de Gramont (1895) Grip (1948)	K Q	?		x								x			x	Se X Hg X

						TAI	3LE 2		unue	1					ſ	3
Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	Аз	Sb	Bi	Cd	Cu	Ga	Ge	Fe	Mn	Ag	Sn	Tl	Zn	Others
fartley and Ramage	к	8					x			х	x	x				
(1897) Jawley, Lewis and Wark	ĸ	3		x	x	x	x			x	x	x	x		-	Co ?, Ni X, Pd -, Pt -, Te ?
(1951) Hegemann (1949) Hegemann and Leybold	к Q	7 15	- x	x	x		$\frac{1}{x}$			x	x	x	x	x	x	Mo -, Cr -, Ni -, V - Co -, Au -, Te -
(1953) Jegemann and Sybel	Q	22	x	x	x		x			x	x	x	x	x	x	Ni X
(1955) Ieier (1953) Iiller and Smolczyk (1953) Ioehne (1934) Iiller and Muta (1050)	Q Q, K Q	1 57 111 7	X X X	X X X	X X X	x x	x x		x			x x x	x x x	x	x	Se X In X
Cutina (1949) Cutiwein and Herrmann	K Q, K	1 50	x	x	x		x x					x x	x	x	x	In X
(1954) .opez de Azcona (1942)	к	720	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	Ba, Co, Au, In, Hg, Mo, Ni, Pt, Sn, V, W, all X
AcLellan (1945) Moritz (1933)	K S	7 1 5										x				In X Cr X, Mo X, V X, W X
Vewhouse (1934) Voddack and Noddack	Q		x	x	х	-	x		-			x	x			Au X, Hg -, Mo X, Pt X, Re X, W -
)ftedal (1939)	Q	9				Į							x			

TABLE 2-Continued

Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	As	Sb	Bi	Cd	Cu	Ga	Ge	Fe	Mn	Ag	Sn	Tl	Zn	Others
Oftedal (1940)	Q	51	х	x	x	x	x			-		x	x	x	x	Hg -, Mo X
Oftedal (1942)	Q	5			х		[ ]			ļ	(	x				
Orliac (1949)	Q	9			X		X		x			X			X	Co X, Ni X
Pina de Rubies and Doetsch (1935)	К	562	x	x	x	х	х	x	х	х		x	х	х	х	Co, Cr, Ba, Au, In, Mo, Ni Pt, Sr, V, W, all X
Prokopenko (1941c, 1941d)	К	?									[					In X
Rankama (1944, 1948)	Q	2		}												Nb X, Ta -
Rösler (1953)	Q	1	x	ł	X	x				х		х	x		х	Cr X, Sr X
Saito (1953)	K	3	X	х		X				x	X	х			х	Au, Rh, Ru, Se, Sr, V, all X
Schmidt (1925)	Q	1														Se X
Schroll (1951)	Q	46	X	X	X							x	х	x		
Schroll (1953a, 1955)	Q	12	X	X	X							X	х	х		Te X
Shaw (1952a)	Q	1												х		
Shaw (1952b)	Q	1			1											In X
Skerl (1934)	Q	?														V -
Taylor (1954)	Q	1				X				X					х	Ni X, V X
Tischendorf (1955)	Q	12	X	X	X							X				
Tornquist (1930)	K	3	х	1												
Wahlstrom (1937)	Q	2			X	} '						X		)	х	Te X
Wasserstein (1945)	K	2														V -
Wasserstein (1951)	Q, K	60				X				х	х	X	x			Sn X, V ?
Yanishevsky and	K	?	ł					1								Mo -
Razumnaya (1938)	1				Į .											
Zvyagintzev and Filippov (1935)	Q	3														Pt X

TABLE 2-Continued

978

MICHAEL FLEISCHER

EISCHER

Ň

シミ

 $\sim$ 

 $\sim$ 

×

2 × ×

2

~~

 $\sim$ 

IX

Te Sn J

×

×

× ×

×

×

×

 $\alpha$ 

vyagintzev and FilipI

(1935)

Razumnaya (1938)

anishevsky and

Vasserstein (1945) Vasserstein (1951)

schendori (195; /ahlstrom (1937

11707.11 aylor *e*(1954) (1.0.3.1)

ornquist (1930

~ 2 ~ 0 ~ C

SSSKOK N

×

x x

×

Pt

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

979

of the samples studied by the last two seem to have been impure. The figures in Table 3 are of somewhat doubtful value because galena so commonly occurs intergrown with sulfantimonites such as tetrahedrite; nevertheless, high contents of antimony have been reported in many samples stated to be homogeneous under the reflecting microscope. Tischendorf (195) found that the antimony content (present at least in part as tetrahedrite) decreased with decreasing temperature of formation.

Arsenic.—Arsenic has been found in only a small percentage of the galena samples analyzed spectrographically (Table 2). Many samples in which arsenic was found contained arsenopyrite, arsenides such as gersdorffite, or

#### TABLE 3

S	UMMARY	OF	QUANTITATIVE	Data	ON	MINOR	ELEMENTS	IN	GALENA

	Man		N		<b>T</b> 1	C							
Ele- ment	concn. ppm	1% or more	5,000- 9,999 ppm	1,000- 4,999 ppm	500- 999 ppm	200- 499 ppm	100- 199 ppm	50 99 ppm	10- 49 ppm	<10 ppm	Not found	No. of samples	tivity ppm
As <sup>a</sup>	1%	1	2	11	9	16	9	1	1	_	179	229	10-100
Sb	3%	5	5	73	25	34	17	13	17		35	224	10-300
Bi	5%	23	1	28	18	26	19	8	43	36	125	327	1-100
Cd	1,000	-	- 1	1	1	2	3	_	1	-	51	59	10-100
Cu	3,000		- 1	5	4	2	16	3	14	5	2	51	1-10
Fe	5,000		1	5	5	3	3	5	13	3	51	89	1-10
Mn	2,000		-	1	1	1		-	19	15	53	90	1-10
Ni	100	-		-	- 1	-	1	2	10	2	25	40	1-5
Ag	3%	11	11	91	36	23	17	8	10	13	13	233	1
тī	1,000	-	- 1	1	4	2	5	5	17	19	95	148	1-10
Snb	1,300	-	-	2°	6°	9	9	5	28	24	255	338	3-100

<sup>a</sup> Omitting samples reported to contain arsenopyrite or arsenides.

<sup>b</sup> Omitting samples reported to contain cassiterite.

° Some of these samples contained tetrahedrite.

sphalerite. Schroll (172) found the content of arsenic to vary inversely with the content of silver.

Bismuth.—Bismuth has been found in many samples of galena (Table 2); Pina de Rubies and Doetsch (145) found it in 19.5 percent of 562 samples, Lopez de Azcona (119) in 20 percent of 720 samples, and Wasserstein (210) in 50 percent of 60 samples. Bismuthinite, sulfosalts containing bismuth, or native bismuth may have been present in some of the samples, but high contents of bismuth have been reported in optically homogeneous samples. Oftedal (139) showed that galena of high bismuth content contained exsolved matildite (AgBiS2) if sufficient silver were present, but that samples of high bismuth and low silver content showed only a pronounced octahedral parting; Wahlstrom (206) had found little difference in chemical composition between samples with cubic cleavage and octahedral parting. Leutwein and Herrmann (117) confirmed the presence of bismuth in solid solution as matildite, the unit cell size of the galena decreasing with increasing content of AgBiS<sub>2</sub>.

Schroll (172) found that the bismuth content of East Alpine galaxies varied with the silver content, being highest near a granite gneiss massifies decreasing farther away from the massif. Tischendorf (195) reported the content of bismuth varied with the content of silver and antimony, a decreasing with decreasing temperatures of formation. Schroll (175) crasiders the presence of bismuth in galena to be a mark of high-temperature, magma-near deposits.

Cadmium.—Cadmium has been found in galena in many qualitative spertrographic studies (Table 2). Most of these samples are also reported contain zinc and it seems likely that they contained sphalerite. However, Oftedal (138) reported 1,000 ppm cadmium in a high-bismuth galena that contained no zinc, and 10 ppm in another zinc-free galena, so that it is prosible that cadmium may be present in solid solution in galena.

*Chromium.*—Chromium has been detected qualitatively by several in vestigators, but has been found in relatively few of the samples studied Newhouse (133) reported X0 to X00 ppm chromium in each of 5 samples he studied.

Copper.—Copper has been detected qualitatively in galena by many workers (Table 2); the few quantitative determinations are summarized in Table 3. Bernard (13) and Oftedal (138) ascribed the copper they found to the presence of impurities. Chalcopyrite is commonly intergrown with galena, and tetrahedrite, bournonite, and other minerals have been reported as microscopic inclusions or intergrowths in galena (Ramdohr, 153).

Gallium.—Gallium has not been found in galena by most investigators; for example, Oftedal (138) did not find it in any of 51 samples. Its presence has been reported qualitatively (Table 2), but it seems likely that the samples contained sphalerite.

Germanium.—Germanium is not commonly present in galena, even in samples associated with germanium-bearing sphalerite (66; 138). Its presence has been reported qualitatively in a few samples (Table 2), and Orliac (141) reported 6 ppm germanium in a galena concentrate, which, however. contained 2.1 percent zinc.

Indium.—Indium, commonly present in sphalerite, has been reported present in relatively few samples of galena (Table 2). Quantitative data are few. Shaw (180) reported 0.91 ppm indium in one sample, and Anderson (5) found in 19 samples more than 100 ppm in one, 20 to 100 ppm in three. and 5 to 20 ppm in three.

Gold and the Platinum Metals.—Gold, platinum, palladium, ruthenium. rhodium, and iridium have been reported qualitatively in a few samples (Table 2). Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 30 ppm gold and 0.8 ppm platinum in one sample. Zvyagintzev and Filippov (215) reported 1, 2, and 5 ppm platinum in three samples.

*Iron.*—Iron has been reported in many qualitative analyses of galena (Table 2). Only a few quantitative spectrographic determinations of iron are available; these are summarized in Table 3. Oftedal (138), who analyzed 51 samples of galena, states that iron was not found in any pure sample.

Constant of Constant of Constant

L FLEISCHER

bismuth content of East Alpine gale. highest near a granite gneiss massif a nassif. Tischendorf (195) reported th the content of silver and antimony, tures of formation. Schroll (175) cr. alena to be a mark of high-temperature

ound in galena in many qualitative spet of these samples are also reported. it they contained sphalerite. However, cadmium in a high-bismuth galena th wher zinc-free galena, so that it is  $p_{0:}$ solid solution in galena.

a detected qualitatively by several in relatively few of the samples studied 10 ppm chromium in each of 5 sample.

d qualitatively in galena by many work. leterminations are summarized in Table ascribed the copper they found to the is commonly intergrown with galena r minerals have been reported as micro ılena (Ramdohr, 153).

ound in galena by most investigators: d it in any of 51 samples. Its presence 2), but it seems likely that the samples

commonly present in galena, even in aring sphalerite (66; 138). Its presa few samples (Table 2), and Orliac a galena concentrate, which, however.

nt in sphalerite, has been reported na (Table 2). Quantitative data are ndium in one sample, and Anderson ppm in one, 20 to 100 ppm in three.

ld, platinum, palladium, ruthenium. ted qualitatively in a few samples ) reported 30 ppm gold and 0.8 ppm d Filippov (215) reported 1, 2, and

any qualitative analyses of galena ctrographic determinations of iron le 3. Oftedal (138), who analyzed as not found in any pure sample.

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

- seems likely that some, if not all of the iron reported by others was due admixed sphalerite or chalcopyrite.

Manganese.--Manganese has been reported in many qualitative analyses galena (Table 2); the few quantitative analyses are summarized in Table It seems probable that some, if not all of the manganese reported was due ; ., admixed sphalerite.

Nickel.—Nickel has not been reported in most analyses of galena, but its resence has been detected in a few samples (Table 2); the few quantitative reterminations are summarized in Table 3.

Mercury .- Mercury has been reported qualitatively in a few of the samdes studied (Table 2). The only quantitative determination is by Grip (71), who found 70 ppm mercury in one sample.

Molybdenum.--Molybdenum has been reported qualitatively in a few samples of galena by several workers (Table 2). The only quantitative determination, by Noddack and Noddack (136), gave 20 ppm molybdenum.

Selenium and Tellurium.-Galena is known to form solid solutions with clausthalite (PbSe) (48) and very probably also forms solid solutions with altaite (PbTe), so that one might expect that selenium and tellurium would be present in galena. Few data are available; the spectrographic sensitivity is poor for these elements. Qualitative data are given by Saito (162) and Hoehne (96); the latter found selenium in 6 of 111 samples. Schmidt (165) reported 3 ppm Se in one sample; Goldschmidt and Strock (68) found 0.8, 0.8, and 2.3 ppm selenium in 3 samples. Heier (93) stated that the unit cell size of a galena sample indicated the presence of approximately 10 mol percent PbSe, but this neglects the possible effect of other substituents on the cell size. Bergenfelt (12) found in galena samples from northern Sweden less than 10 ppm selenium in 2 samples, but in other samples 50, 200, 1200,  $10,000 \ (= 1\%)$ , and  $15,000 \ (= 1.5\%)$  ppm selenium. The two highest samples were from the Boliden Mine where sulfosalts rich in selenium (cosalite, kobellite) are known to occur. Bergenfelt also found that the Se:S ratios for galena concentrates were consistently higher than those for chalcopyrite, sphalerite, or pyrite concentrates. There is apparently, however, a marked regional concentration, as Edwards and Carlos (52) not only found much less selenium (1 to 3 ppm in 8 samples, 13 and 14 ppm in two others) in ten Australian samples, but also found lower Se:S ratios in galena than in pyrite, chalcopyrite, pyrrhotite, and some sphalerite.

Tellurium has been reported qualitatively by Oftedal (138) in 3 of 51 samples, by Hawley, Lewis, and Wark (81), and by Schroll (175). The only quantitative determinations are by Schroll (172, 175), who reports 100 and 300 ppm tellurium.

Silver.-Silver is reported to be present in nearly all spectrographic analyses of galena, doubtless in part because of its great sensitivity, usually given as 1 ppm (Table 2). The quantitative data are summarized in Table 3. Many of these samples were studied optically and silver minerals were identified in only a few. The presence of matildite, AgBiS<sub>2</sub>, both in true solid solution and as an exsolved phase, has been proved, (see under Bismuth, above).

Schroll (172) found that the content of silver varied directly with  $th_{0.5}$  of antimony and bismuth and inversely with the content of arsenic. Tischer dorf (195) reported that the content of silver, bismuth, and antimony all decreased with decreasing temperature of formation.

Thallium.—Thallium has been reported qualitatively in galena by  $m_{any}$  investigators (Table 2). The quantitative data are summarized in Table 3 According to Oftedal (138), thallium is found exclusively in the galena and not in the sphalerite of galena-sphalerite occurrences. Analyses of sphalerite by others do not agree with this conclusion, but thallium does seem to be preferentially concentrated in galena.

Tin.—Tin has been reported qualitatively by many workers (Table 2), who found it in about 40 percent of the samples studied. The quantitative data are summarized in Table 3. The tin content is low in most samples, relatively few having more than 100 ppm, and some of these contained tetrahedrite.

Vanadium.—Vanadium has been reported qualitatively in a few samples (Table 2). Newhouse (133) found X0 to X00 ppm vanadium in each of 5 samples he examined. Taylor (194) reported 17 ppm vanadium in an impure sample from Broken Hill, Rhodesia.

Zinc.—Zinc has been reported in many chemical and spectrographic analyses of galena (Table 2). But Oftedal (138) states that it is never found in pure galena and that inclusions of sphalerite are always present in samples that contain zinc. Hegemann and Leybold (90) and Hegemann and Sybel (92) report quantitative determinations of zinc in 20 of 38 samples studied. They found up to 3 percent zinc, but nothing is said of the purity of the samples.

Other Elements.—Silicon, aluminum, magnesium, and titanium have been reported qualitatively in many samples; sodium, lithium, beryllium, and zirconium in a few, yttrium and scandium in a single sample. The presumption is that these should be ascribed to impurities in the samples. Calcium, barium, and strontium have been reported in many samples by Claussen (43) (Ca, Sr), Frondel et al. (56), Lopez de Azcona (119), Pina de Rubies and Doetsch (145), Rösler (160) (Sr), Saito (162) (Sr), and Wasserstein (209) (Sr). The presence of calcium has generally been ascribed to impurities, and, as barite is commonly associated with galena, barium and strontium might also be due to impurities. However, barium and strontium have been reported in carefully selected galena samples, and their ionic radii are so close to that of lead that they might well be present in solid solution.

Cobalt has been reported in a few samples, but may be present in associated pyrite or other minerals. Tungsten has been detected in a few samples (Table 2). It was found in concentrations X0 to X00 ppm by Newhouse (133) in all 5 samples studied; verification of this is needed. Strock (187) reported 15 ppm lithium in a galena concentrate. Noddack and Noddack (136) found 0.01 ppm of rhenium in a sample of galena. Rankama (154, 155) found no tantalum and 0.1, 0.6 ppm niobium in 2 samples. No other determinations of these elements in galena have been reported.

. میکنیکنیکنیکیکیکیکیکی دوران

the content of silver varied directly with the nversely with the content of arsenic. Tische content of silver, bismuth, and antimony perature of formation.

1 qualitatively by many workers (Table 2) nt of the samples studied. The quantitative 3. The tin content is low in most samples 100 ppm, and some of these contained tetra-

been reported qualitatively in a few samples ound X0 to X00 ppm vanadium in each of r (194) reported 17 ppm vanadium in an

ed in many chemical and spectrographic it Oftedal (138) states that it is never found of sphalerite are always present in samples d Leybold (90) and Hegemann and Sybel ations of zinc in 20 of 38 samples studied. , but nothing is said of the purity of the

linum, magnesium, and titanium have been amples; sodium, lithium, beryllium, and scandium in a single sample. The preascribed to impurities in the samples. ave been reported in many samples by al. (56), Lopez de Azcona (119), Pina de (160) (Sr), Saito (162) (Sr), and sence of calcium has generally been ascommonly associated with galena, barium npurities. However, barium and stronselected galena samples, and their ionic at they might well be present in solid

mples, but may be present in associated has been detected in a few samples ations X0 to X00 ppm by Newhouse tion of this is needed. Strock (187) concentrate. Noddack and Noddack <sup>a sample</sup> of galena. Rankama (154, om niobium in 2 samples. No other a have been reported.

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

### Sphalerite, Wurtsite, and "Schalenblende"

The minor elements in sphalerite have been studied more than those of een reported qualitatively in galena by mariative data. Indium and gallium were discovered in sphalerite; zinc ores are quantitative data are summarized in Table still the principal sources of these elements and also of cadmium and gerhallium is found exclusively in the galena an manium. Wurtzite, the hexagonal dimorph of sphalerite, has been studied phalerite occurrences. Analyze galena an manium. The two minerals are considered together here, because many phalerite occurrences. Analyses of sphalerite much less. The two minerals are considered together here, because many is conclusion, but thallium does seem to be samples of zinc sulfide that have been studied were of the "schalenblende" type, that is, they were fine-grained concentrically banded samples whose mineralogical identity was not established; such samples may be sphalerite or wurtzite or mixtures of the two. In Table 5, the data for "schalenblende" are given separately. Most authors have not specifically designated such samples, however, so that many are undoubtedly included under sphalerite.

> The possible effect of the minor-element content on the stability relations of polymorphs is a subject of great interest (55). Unfortunately, so few analyses of wurtzite have been made that significant conclusions are hard to draw. More research on these and other polymorphs is much needed.

> Table 4 is a summary of the papers dealing with sphalerite and shows the type of analysis and the elements for which data are given. Table 5 summarizes the quantitative and semiguantitative determinations of the elements for which there is much data. Discussion of these and of the other elements is given below.

> Antimony.—Antimony has been reported qualitatively in nearly half the samples of sphalerite studied (Table 4). The quantitative data are summarized in Table 5. It remains uncertain whether antimony occurs in pure sphalerite. Oftedal (138, p. 84) stated that it does not; he found it in only 14 of 111 samples studied and 9 of these contained appreciable amounts of lead. Hoehne (96) found up to 5,500 ppm antimony in 7 of the 14 samples studied, but impurities such as tetrahedrite, arsenopyrite, or stannite were present in each. Schroll's data (173, 174) indicate that antimony is present in the zinc sulfides, with higher concentrations in wurtzite and "schalenblende." The data of Table 5 show very clearly that many of the samples of high antimony content are also high in lead; in view of the established high content of antimony in galena, it seems probable that admixed galena accounts for much of the antimony reported in the zinc sulfides.

> Arsenic .-- The presence of arsenic has been reported qualitatively in about one-sixth of the samples studied, see Table 4. The available quantitative data are summarized in Table 5. Many of the samples that had high contents of arsenic may have contained impurities and this is especially true of the "schalenblende" type. Many, for example, contained 1 percent or more lead, yet galena does not generally contain much arsenic. It is impossible to judge what minerals might be present in these fine-grained aggregates. It does seem probable that pure sphalerite may contain at least moderate amounts of arsenic.

> Bismuth.—Bismuth has been reported qualitatively in about one-sixth of the samples of sphalerite studied; no qualitative data on wurtzite are available.

### TABLE 4

#### SUMMARY OF REFERENCES ON SPHALERITE AND WURTZITE

Under Type of Data, Q means quantitative analysis, S means semi-quantitative analysis, K means qualitative analysis. Under N Samples, S means sphalerite plus "schalenblende," W means wurtzite. Under the elements listed the symbol X means that the element was the symbol — means that the element was looked for, but not found.

- die sol and the state

																1	)
Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	Sb	As	Cđ	Co	Cu	Ga	Ge	In	РЬ	Mn	Ni	Ag	T1	Sn	Others
Abramov and Rusanov	s	237S			x			х	х	х							
(1938)	_				~~			77			1	v			v	v	1
Ahlfeld and Moritz (1933)	s	2S 1W			x			x	-						^		
Anderson (1953)	S. K	24S	x		X				x	X	1						
Bartlett (1889)	ĸ	1S	x	x	x			х		x					X		Hg X, Se X
Beck (1937)	0, K	3S						х	X	X	l						
Bergenfelt (1953)	Q	14S								•	{						Se X
Bernard (1953)	ĸ	11S	x	X	х		х	х		х	X	x		X			4
Bernard (1954)	к	1S	х	x	х		x				]			x			
Biewendt (1902)	Q	?S			x						ł	l .					
Bjørlykke and Jarp (1950)	Q	2S				X					{						
Boisbaudran (1875, 1876)	ĸ	?S						x			}						
Borovik, Lizunov, and Shcherbina (1941)	s	49S						х									
Borovik and Prokopenko (1939, 1941)	к	?S								х							
Borovik and Prokopenko	к	58S							x	х							
Borovik and Sosedko (1937)	к	28						х	1		[	ļ					
Borovik, Vlodavetz and	Q	42S								x							
Prokopenko (1938)	~										]	ł					
Bose and Dutta (1950)	K, Q	1S			X			х			X	[		x		x	Fex
Brewer and Baker (1936)	K	1W								x	1						
		2S									}	}					
Brewer, Cox and Morris	Q	12S							x								
Buchanan (1917)	к	6S							x								

MICHAEL FLEISCHER

(1938) Borovik and Sosedko (2022)	K	585	Į											1		EI
Borovik, Vlodavetz and Prokopenko (1937)	Q K	?S 42S	ľ	-	v											~
Bose and Dutta (1950) Brewer and Baker (1936)	к, <u>Q</u>	15			~		x									
Brewer, Cox and Morris	ĸ	1W 2S			x	x	$\mathbf{x}$	x			x		v	_		
Buchanan (1917)	x	12S				$\mathbf{x}$							×	Fe X		
		05				$\mathbf{x}$										

### TABLE 4—Continued

100

Section and

Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	Sb	As	Cd	Co	Cu	Ga	Ge	In	РЪ	Mn	Ni	Ag	T1	Sn	Others
Cambel and Kupco (1953) Cambi and Malatesta	к Q	1S 1S			x		x	x	x	x	x	x	х	x			
(1936) Campo (1914) Canneri and Cozzi (1954) Claussen (1934)	K Q K	68S 1S 6S	x	x		x	x	x x	X X	x x	x	x		x	x	x	Bi Pd, W, all X; Mo, Ni, V, Cr. Au, all -
Cornwall (1880) Cremascoli (1950) Dutta and Bose (1950)	к Q O	9S 6S 1S						x	x x								
Eberhard (1910) Edwards and Carlos (1954) Erametsa (1939)	к Q Q	7S 12S 40S			-	v	v	X	v	X	v		v	×	x	x	Sc X, Y X Se X Bi X, Re X, Cr. Hg.
Evrard (1945) Fryklund and Fletcher	K Q	21S 60S			x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	2	•			Mo, V, all – Fe X, Hg X
(1955) Gabrielson (1945) Goldschmidt and Peters	QS	78S 1S			x	x	x	x x	x	x	x	x	x	x		x	Fe X
(1931) Goldschmidt and Peters (1932)	Q	1S												x			Au X, Pt, Pd, Rh, Ru, all —
Goldschmidt and Peters (1933)		16S 2W 2S							x								Se X
(1935) Graton and Harcourt (1935)	K	18S	x		x		x	x	x	x	x	x		x		x	Bi X He X
Grip (1948) Guardiola (1922) Haberlandt and Schiener	Q K Q	6S 7S 6S	x	x x	x x	x	x	x x	x x	x	х	x	х	X X	x x	x	Au X Fe X
(1951) Hartley and Ramage (1897)	к	14S			x		x	x		x	x		x	x	x		Cr X

TABLE	4—Continued
-------	-------------

Sec. Sec.

a star was the star star star and a star

										5	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	Sb	As	Cđ	Co	Cu	Ga	Ge	In	Pb	Mn	Ni	Ag	ті	Sn	Others
Hassler and Roys (1934) Hawley, Lewis, and Wark	K K	1S 1S	_	-	x	x	x	x	x	x	x x	- x	×	- x		x -	Cr X, V X, Bi, Au, Pd, Pt, all -
(1931) Hegemann (1949) Hegemann and Kostyra	к, Q Q	10S 10S	x	X X	X X	x	X X	x	·x	x	x x	x x	x	x	x	x	Mo -, V - Bi, Hg, Mo, Ti, V, all X
Hillebrand and Scherrer	к	4S						x	х								
Hoehne (1934)	Q	14S	x	x		1							Į			X	Bi X
Juretzka (1915)	Q	?S			x				v	~	ļ						Re -
Kimura and Koyama (1936)	K,Q	16S				l		-	X		ļ		ļ				110
(1052) Kimura, Nagashima, et al.	1 3	105							-			ł					
Kinoshita and Muta (1950)	к	9S	x	x	x		x		х	-	x			х		x	Au X
Kirkland (1892)	к	15					Ì	x		x			ļ				
Kleinert (1949)	Q	1S							х		l .	v					Fox
Kruglyakova and	Q	20S										^					rex
Yasinskaya (1952)	0	545			x	x	x	x	x		x	х	x	х		х	Fe X
Kutina (1955)	Ř	15	x		x		x	x		x	x	х		х		X	
Kutina (1953a)	K, Q	35		х	X	х	x	X		X	X	X	x	х	v	X	II. V
Kutina (1953b)	K	8S		X	X	Į	X		х	v				v	л		Ri X
Kutina (1953c)	K	1S	77						v		<b>^</b>	^	{	x		x	Bi X. Hg X
de Launay and Urbain	K	rs	x					<b>^</b>	1		ļ						
(1910) Lebedev (1954)	0. к	15		x	x	Į	x		х		x				x		
Llord v Gamboa (1909)	K	?S			X						x	X					
Marks and Hall (1946)	Q	3S			l				x								
Marks and Jones (1948)	Q Q	2S				l					· ·				1		
McLellan (1945)	K	15			l x	1	x	_		<u> </u>	x	x	}	x	1		
(1024)	V.K	45				1								.			
(1701)	ł				í .	1		1	1	Į	l	1	l		1	۱ <u>ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ</u>	

986

MICHAEL FLEISCHER

Yasinskaya (1952) Kullerud (1953) Kutina (1949) Kutina (1953a) Kutina (1953b) Kutina (1953c) de Launay and Urbain (1910) Lebedev (1954) Llord y Gamboa (1909) Marks and Hall (1946) Marks and Jones (1948) McLellan (1945) Meigen and Scharschmidt (1924)	Q K K,Q K K K Q,K K Q K Q,K	205 54S 1S 3S 8S 1S 7S 1S 7S 3S 2S 7S 4S	x	x x x	X X X X X X X X X X X X	X X	X X X X X X X X X X	X X X X X X	x x x x x x x	x x x x x x -	X X X X X X X X	x x x x x x x x x x x	x	x x x x x x x	x x	X X X X X	Fe X Fe X Hg X Bi X Bi X, Hg X	
	I										^			x				

### TABLE 4—Continued

Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	ѕъ	As	Cd	Co	Cu	Ga	Ge	In	РЪ	Mn	Ni	Ag	тı	Sn	Others
Morinaga (1952)	K	44S						x x	x	x							
(1954, 1955) Moritz (1933)	S	2W 2S			x		x	x			x	x		x	x		
Murakami (1950) Nair and Rajan (1954) Newhouse (1934)	Q Q S	3S 1S 6S							x								Cr X, Mo X, V X,
Noddack (1936)	Q, S	15	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	Bi, Cr, Au, Hg, Mo, Pt, Re, Sc, Te, V,
Noddack and Noddack	Q	15	x	x	x		x		x		x			x		x	W, all X Bi, Au, Hg, Mo, V, Pt, Re, W, all X
(1931) Oftedal (1939) Oftedal (1940) Orliac (1949)	Q Q Q	8S 111S 11S	x x	x	x	x x	x	x	x x	x	x	x	x x	x	x	X X	Bi, Fe, Hg, Mo, all X Bi X
Papish (1928) Papish and Stilson (1930) Pina de Rubies and	К К Q	1S 80S 1S				x	x	x x	x x		x	x	x	x		x	Hg X L
Lopez de Azcona (1936) Pina de Rubies and	к	55			x	x	x	x	x	x				x		x	Hg X, Mo X
Lopez de Azcona (1937) Pouba (1951) Prokopenko	K K	4S ?S	x	-	x		x		x	x		x		x	x		Hg X, Bi —
(1941a, 1941b, 1941c) Rankama (1944, 1948)	0	4S									}			-			Nb X, Ta X
Rimatori (1904)	K,Q	8S 15S		}			x	x		X X							Bi X
Rost (1939)	Q, K	4S	x	x	}	x	X X	l	x		x	X X	x	XX			Rh X, Se X
Saito (1953) Saksela (1951) Schmidt (1925)	QQ	7S 3S						x		x							Se X

an and the second states and the

987

ISCHER

886

MICHAEL FLEISCHER

Type of data	No. of samples	Sb	As	Cd	Co	Cu	Ga	Ge	In	Pb	Mn	Ni	Ag	T1	Sn	Others
K S Q Q	1S 41S 31S 60S 16W	x x	X X X X	x x x	X X X	x	x x x	X X X	$\frac{x}{x}$	x	x x x	x x	x x x	x x x	x x	Fe X Fe X, Hg —, Te — Bi X, Fe X, Hg X
K Q K O	1S 1S 2S 3S							x	x					x		V – Hg X
Q S, K Q O	2S 75S 1S 5S		x	x	x		x	X X X	x		x	x		x	x	Bi X, Hg X Li X
Q Q K K	?S 1S 2S ?S	x x	x	x x	х	x	x x	x x	x x	x		X X X	x	x	х	vx
к к	64S 1S 2S	x	x	x x	x	x	x x	x x x	x x	x x	x		x	x		Bi X, Mo <u>.</u> X
K Q S, K	2S ?S 164S	x	x	x x		x	x	x	x x	x	x		x	x	x	Bi, Fe, Au, Te, Ti, V, all X
K Q Q	?S 1S 2S			x					x		x					Fe X, Hg X Pt X
	Type of data K S Q Q K Q K Q C S , K Q Q C K K K K C Q Q K K K C Q C K S C C S K C C S C C S C S C C S C C S C S	Type of data         No. of samples           K         1S S           Q         31S Q           Q         31S           Q         60S           16W         1S           Q         1S           K         7S           Q         2S           S, K         7SS           Q         2S           Q         1S           K         2S           Q         1S           Q         2S           Q         1S           Q         2S           Q         1S           K         2S           Q         1S           K         2S           K         2S           S, K         164S           K         2S           Q         1S           Q         2S	Type of data         No. of samples         Sb           K         1S S         55           Q         31S Q         X           Q         60S X         X           Q         60S X         X           Q         1S X         X           Q         2S X         X           Q         7S X         X           Q         1S         X           K         7S         X           Q         1S         X           Q         2S         X	Type of data         No. of samples         Sb         As           K         1S S         Sb         As           K         1S Q         X X X         X           Q         31S X         X X         X           Q         60S X         X         X           Q         60S X         X         X           Q         1S X         X         X           Q         1S X         X         X           Q         1S Q         X         X           Q         2S Q         X         X           Q         1S Q         X         X           Q         1S Q         X         X           Q         1S X         X         X           K         2S Q         7S X         X           K         2S Q         7S X         X           K         2S Q         7S X         X           K         2S Q         2S         X           K         2S Q         2S         X           K         2S         X         X           K         2S         X         X           Q         1S<	Type of data         No. of samples         Sb         As         Cd           K         1S         X         X         X           Q         31S         X         X         X           Q         31S         X         X         X           Q         60S         X         X         X           Q         1S         -         -         -           Q         3S         -         -         -           Q         3S         -         -         -           Q         1S         -         -         -           Q         1S         -         X         X           K         2S         X         X         X           K         2S         X         X         X           Q         1S         -         X         X           K         2S         X         X         X           K         2S         <	Type of data         No. of samples         Sb         As         Cd         Co           K         1S         X         X         X         X         X         X           Q         31S         X         X         X         X         X         X           Q         31S         X         X         X         X         X         X           Q         31S         X         X         X         X         X         X           Q         60S         X         X         X         X         X         X           Q         1S         -	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

### TABLE 4—Continued

a a construction of the construction of the second second second second second second second second second second

TATULE DATA ON MINOR ELEMENTS IN SPHALERITE (S), WURTZITE (W), AND "SCHALENBLENDE" (SC)

М

Urbain, Bloñdel, and Obiedoff (1910) Urbain and Campo (1909) Vogel (1894) Waring (1917) Warren and Thompson (1945) Yanishevsky and Razumnaya (1938) Zak (1951)	K K K Q S, K K	75 648 18 75 28 75 1645 75	x x	X X X	x x x x x	×	X X X	x x x x	x x x x x	X X X X X X	x x x x	x x	X X X	x x x	x	Bi X, Mo X	SCHER	
2vyagintzev and Fillipov (1935)	Q	1S 2S			x					x		x				all X Mo – Fe X, Hg X Pt X		

#### TABLE 5

#### SUMMARY OF QUANTITATIVE DATA ON MINOR ELEMENTS IN SPHALERITE (S), WURTZITE (W), AND "SCHALENBLENDE" (SC)

		Max			Numbe	r of sample	es reported	l in each co	oncentratio	on range			Total	
Element	Type of sample	concn. ppm	1% or more	5,000- 9,999 ppm	1,000 4,999 ppm	500-999 ppm	200–499 ppm	100–199 ppm	5099 ppm	10-49 ppm	<10 ppm	Not found	No. samples	Sensitivity ppm
Sb*	S	3%	1	3	4	6	7	7	8	11	-	150	197	10-30
Sb <sup>a</sup>	w	3,000	-	- 1	4	3	2		2	1	-	4	16	10-30
Sb*	SC	>1%	2	-	3		~	1	3	8	-	8	25	10-30
Sbb	S	1,000	-	- 1	2	3	3	4	5	8	-	145	170	10-30
Sbb	W	3,000	-	- 1	4	1	2	-	1	· 1	- 1	4	13	10-30
Sbb	SC	50	-			-		-	1	3	l	8	12	10-30
As	S	1%	2	2	7	7	17°	12	13d	-	-	177	235	50-100
As	W	500	-	}		1	5	3	-	-	-	7	16	100
As	SC	>1%	5	5	6	5	2	2	-	- 1		5	30	100
Bia	S and SC	1,000	-		1	-	4	13	4	18°	3	143	186	1-10
Bib	S and SC	100	-				}	7	<b>1</b> .	13	2	143	166	1-10
Bi	W	50		-	<b>-</b>	-	-		1	- 1		15	16	10
Cd	S	4.4%	31	76	731 <sup>f</sup>	38	358	5	4	1	-		921	10-100
Cd	W	3%	10	2	5			-	-	- 1	-	-	17	10
Cd	SC	1%	1	2	19	-	6		1	<b>-</b> .	-	-	29	10
Co	S and SC	3,000	-	-	21	17	29 <sup>h</sup> {	26	52	62 <sup>1</sup>	5	201	413	3-50
Co	W	500			-	1	3	3	-	-	-	9	16	30
Cu	S and SC	5%	38	8	76	21	11	32	16	34	1	60	297	1-100

\* Excluding only those samples stated to contain Sb minerals.

<sup>b</sup> Excluding only those samples stated to contain so innerals.
<sup>b</sup> Excluding also samples stated to contain much arsenopyrite or stannite and all samples for which the analyses show 1,000 ppm or more Pb.
<sup>c</sup> Including 5 samples stated to contain 100-500 ppm.
<sup>d</sup> Including 2 samples stated to contain 10-100 ppm.
<sup>e</sup> Including 241 samples stated to contain 1,000-10,000 ppm.
<sup>e</sup> Including 241 samples stated to contain 1,000-10,000 ppm.

<sup>g</sup> Including 19 samples stated to contain 100-1,000 ppm.

Including 4 samples stated to contain 100-1,000 ppm.
 Including 10 samples stated to contain 10-100 ppm.

		Mar			Numbe	r of sample	es reported	in each co	oncentratio	on range			Total		
Element	Type of sample	concn. ppm	1% or more	5,000- 9,999 ppm	1,000- 4,999 ppm	500–999 ppm	200–499 ppm	100–199 ppm	50–99 ppm	10-49 ppm	<10 ppm	Not found	No. samples	Sensitivity ppm	
Ga Ga Ga Ge	S W SC S	3,000 5,000 500 1,000	-	- 1 -	15 <sup>j</sup> 4 	7 1 1 11	57k 	160 3 2 84	115 <sup>1</sup>  4 104 <sup>p</sup>	212 <sup>m</sup> 3 4 91	70  46	326 7 16 508	962 19 28 959	$     \begin{array}{r}       1-100 \\       10 \\       10 \\       1-100,     \end{array} $	
Ge	W	5,000	—	1	6	1	2	1		2	3	3	19	mostly 1-10 1-100, mostly 1-10	MICHAE
Ge In In Pb Pb Pb Pb	SC W SC S W SC	3,000 1% 5,000 10 10% 3% 5%	2  43 1 6	5 1  15 1 3	9 439  58 2 14	5 18  20 5 2	5 52 <sup>r</sup> 1 22 2 1	4 87  19 1 2	2 58 - 8 1 -	4 168 <sup>8</sup> 3 1 29 . 1 	1 58 3 	1 447 9 27 47 3 	31 938 17 28 277 17 28	1-100, mostly 1-10 5 5 5-20 5-20 5-20 5-20	L FLEISCHER

TABLE 5-Continued

and a second second

<sup>i</sup> Including 3 samples stated to contain 1,000–10,000 ppm. <sup>k</sup> Including 45 samples stated to contain 100–1,000 ppm and 2 samples stated to contain 100–500 ppm.

<sup>1</sup> Including 16 samples stated to contain 10-100 ppm.

<sup>1</sup> Including 16 samples stated to contain 10-100 ppm.
<sup>m</sup> Including 57 samples stated to contain 1-100 ppm.
<sup>n</sup> Including 59 samples stated to contain 1,000-10,000 ppm.
<sup>o</sup> Including 39 samples stated to contain 100-1,000 ppm.
<sup>p</sup> Including 10 samples stated to contain 1,000-10,000 ppm.
<sup>q</sup> Including 10 samples stated to contain 1,000-10,000 ppm.
<sup>r</sup> Including 29 samples stated to contain 100-1,000 ppm and 2 samples stated to contain more than 100 ppm.
<sup>r</sup> Including 65 samples stated to contain 10-100 ppm and 4 samples stated to contain less than 30 ppm.

<u>)</u>		
10-10-11		•
	TABLE 5-Continued Total Sensitivity	
	Number of samples reported in each concentration with samples ppm	ML
	$\cdot$	

$ \begin{array}{c c} Pb \\ Pb \\ Pb \\ Pb \\ SC \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	20 5	$\begin{bmatrix} 22\\2 \end{bmatrix}$		1 29	16	27 47	28 277	5	.CF
<sup>i</sup> Including 3 sam	ples stated to contai	1 1 600-10 000		1	2 -		_	- 3	- 17 28	5-20 5-20	IER
<sup>1</sup> Including 16 san	ples stated to conta	in 100-1,000 pp	pm. m and 2 same					1		5-20	
Including 57 sam Including 6 same	ples stated to conta	in 10–100 ppm.	burn	ples stated to	contain 100-	-500 ppm.					
<sup>o</sup> Including 39 sam	ples stated to contain ples stated to contain	1 1,000-10,000 p	pm.								
<sup>q</sup> Including 10 sam	ples stated to contain	in 10–100 ppm.	n.								
<ul> <li>Including 29 sam</li> <li>Including 65 sam</li> </ul>	ples stated to contai	n 1,000-10,000 p n 100-1,000 ppn	pm.								
	ars scared to contai	n 10-100 ppm ai	id 4 samples	les stated to c stated to con	ontain more	than 100	ppm.				
			id 4 samples	stated to con	ain less than	than 100 30 ppm,	ppm.				

#### TABLE 5-Continued

		Man			Numbe	r of sample	es reported	in each co	oncentratio	n range			Total	Sensitivity
Element	Type of sample	concn. ppm	1% or more	5,000 9,999 ppm	1,000 4,999 ppm	500-999 ppm	200-499 ppm	100–199 ppm	50-99 ppm	10–49 ppm	<10 ppm	Not found	No. samples	ppm
		5 107	27	58	1631	34	104 <sup>u</sup>	24	116 <sup>v</sup>	38₩	1	87	652	1-100
Mn	S III	5.4%	21	20	105	3	1	2	2			3	17	10-30
Mn	W SC	3,000		-	2	6	Î	3	1	10	~	4	27	10-30
Mn	SC	107	1	_	4	5	10	15	19	28	1	142	225	10-30
Hg		3 000	-		1	1	1	1	2	1		10	17	10-30
Hg	SC N	3,000			i	Î	_		1	3		23	29	10-30
rig Ni		300	_	-	-		7	8	5	42	7	142	211	1-50
INI NI:	w	100	_	~			_	2	1	- 1	-	13	16	50
INI NU	50	300	_	_			4	2	5	-		16	27	50
INI So	SC	000				1	3		1	9	27		41	1-5
3e A ~	2	1%	3	11×	36	2	66 <sup>y</sup>	15	107*	57	90	71	448	1-5
Ag	w	3 000	_	-	5	1	1	1	1	2	3	2	16	1-5
Ag	sc	3,000			1	1		1	-	9	8	9	29	1-5
TI	SC	5,000	-	1	6 <sup>88</sup>	2	13 <sup>bb</sup>	4	10	2500	18	231	310	1-100
	w	500		_	-	1	1	1	3	3	2	6	17	3
	SC	1%	1	2	7	2	2	5	3	4	1	1	28	3
Sn	S	1%	1	1	42 <sup>dd</sup>	17	28 <sup>ee</sup>	66	15	38	25	352	585	3-100
Sn	w	1%	1	1	1		1		4	4		4	16	3
Sn	sc	50	-	-			-	-	3	4	8	12	27	3

<sup>4</sup> Including 14 samples stated to contain 1,000-10,000 ppm.

<sup>u</sup> Including 65 samples stated to contain 100-1,000 ppm.

\* Including 83 samples stated to contain less than 100 ppm.

Including 13 samples stated to contain 10–100 ppm.

\* Including 7 samples stated to contain more than 1,000 ppm.

<sup>y</sup> Including 57 samples stated to contain 100-1,000 ppm.

<sup>2</sup> Including 85 samples stated to contain less than 100 ppm. <sup>a</sup> Including 3 samples stated to contain 1,000–10,000 ppm.

<sup>bb</sup> Including 11 samples stated to contain 100-1,000 ppm.

<sup>cc</sup> Including 10 samples stated to contain 10-100 ppm.

<sup>dd</sup> Including 4 samples stated to contain 1,000-10,000 ppm.

<sup>ee</sup> Including 12 samples stated to contain 100-1,000 ppm.

The quantitative data, summarized in Table 5, show that most of the samples that contain much bismuth have high lead content. It seems likely that much of the bismuth reported in sphalerite is from admixed galena or other impurities.

*Cadmium.*—Cadmium is reported in practically all chemical and spectro. graphic analyses of the zinc sulfides (Table 4). The quantitative spectrographic analyses are summarized in Table 5. They show for sphalerite a very high concentration in the range from 1,000 to 5,000 ppm; similar results are given in a compilation of 130 chemical analyses of sphalerite in Doelter and Leitmeier (46), in data on Silesian zinc ores by Juretzka (101), and on Tri-State zinc ores by Waring (207). The few results for wurtzite apparently indicate a higher average content of cadmium; this is in accord with the 14 chemical analyses cited in Doelter and Leitmeier (46), of which 8 showed more than 1 percent cadmium. More data are needed.

The cadmium content of sphalerite seems to be independent of the conditions of formation; there is no clear indication of systematic differences in sphalerites from low-temperature and high-temperature deposits (60; 138; 185). In banded zinc sulfides, the tendency is towards higher cadmium content in the light-colored bands, and less cadmium in the dark, iron-rich bands (113).

*Cobalt.*—Cobalt has been reported to be present in about one-third of the sphalerites studied qualitatively (Table 4). The quantitative data, summarized in Table 5, show cobalt in about half the samples. Some of the cobalt reported may be in chalcopyrite, nearly always present in sphalerite, or, less likely, may be present in admixed pyrite or arsenopyrite, but probably some of the cobalt is actually present in the sphalerite itself.

According to Oftedal (138) and Gabrielson (60), sphalerites from hightemperature contact-metamorphic and carbonate-skarn deposits generally contain more cobalt than those from other types of deposits. There does not, however, seem to be a correlation between the contents of cobalt and iron (138); this agrees with the data of Kullerud (110), which show very little correlation of cobalt content with temperature of formation.

Copper.—The presence of copper has been reported in nearly all sphalerites analyzed (Table 4). No data on copper in wurtzite have been published.

The quantitative results summarized in Table 5, probably represent nothing more than a measure of the contamination of the sample by copper minerals and especially by chalcopyrite. Oftedal (138, p. 71) stated that every sample that contained as much as 1,000 ppm copper was found to contain inclusions of chalcopyrite. These showed textures commonly attributed to exsolution. Such textures have been reported by many workers (153, p. 348–350). The true solubility of chalcopyrite in sphalerite, appreciable at high temperatures, is apparently very low at room temperature.

Gallium.—Gallium has been reported to be present in about three-fourths of the sphalerite samples studied (Table 4). The quantitative results are summarized in Table 5. There is general agreement by most workers (including, among others, Abramov and Rusanov, 1; de Launay and Urbain, 115; Gabrielson, 60; Oftedal, 138; Stoiber, 185; Schroll, 173) that the

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

993

いたのであるというというないの間にはないないないです。

5, show that most of the samples itent. It seems likely that much in admixed galena or other im-

tically all chemical and spectro-4). The quantitative spectro-5. They show for sphalerite a 00 to 5,000 ppm; similar results nalyees of sphalerite in Doelter ores by Juretzka (101), and on e few results for wurtzite apcadmium; this is in accord with id Leitmeier (46), of which 8 e data are needed.

to be independent of the contion of systematic differences in emperature deposits (60; 138; s towards higher cadmium conum in the dark, iron-rich bands

The quantitative data, sumalf the samples. Some of the always present in sphalerite, or, or arsenopyrite, but probably halerite itself.

n (60), sphalerites from highe-skarn deposits generally conof deposits. There does not, e contents of cobalt and iron (110), which show very little of formation.

ported in nearly all sphalerites tzite have been published. 5, probably represent nothing we sample by copper minerals 71) stated that every sample s found to contain inclusions miy attributed to exsolution. ers (153, p. 348-350). The weiable at high temperatures,

esent in about three-fourths 'he quantitative results are uent by most workers (inl; de Launay and Urbain, 5; Schroll, 173) that the gallium content is most likely to be high in sphalerites from low-temperature deposits such as those of the Mississippi Valley type and in those from low-temperature quartz veins. The data of Kullerud (110), the only worker who determined temperatures of formation by a direct method, do not show a close correlation of gallium content with temperature of formation.

Germanium.—Germanium has been reported present in about half the samples studied (Table 4). The quantitative data are summarized in Table 5.

Wurtzite and "schalenblende," on the basis of the few samples analyzed, generally contain more germanium than sphalerite. The dark bands of "schalenblende" ore contain more germanium than the light bands (Kutina, 113). Nearly all of the investigators agree that sphalerite from lowtemperature deposits such as those of the Mississippi Valley type tend to be higher in germanium content than those from mesothermal or high-temperature deposits (de Launay and Urbain, 115; Graton and Harcourt, 69; Stoiber, 185; Oftedal, 138; Gabrielson, 60; Warren and Thompson, 208), but many exceptions have been noted. The data of Kullerud (110) show practically no correlation between germanium content and temperature of formation.

Gold.—Gold has been reported qualitatively in 21 of 180 samples studied (Table 4). Quantitative data have been published for 3 samples that contained 0.5, 1–10, and 3 ppm gold, respectively (Goldschmidt and Peters, 65; Noddack, 135; Noddack and Noddack, 136).

Indium.—Indium has been found in about half the samples studied (Table 4). The quantitative data are summarized in Table 5. The few results available seem to indicate that indium occurs in higher concentrations in sphalerite than in wurtzite, and that the "schalenblendes" have extremely low contents of indium. Nearly all workers agree that indium is most likely to be present in appreciable amounts in sphalerites from deposits classed as mesothermal or high-temperature types, whereas it is likely to be absent or present in low concentrations in sphalerites from deposits of low-temperature type (de Launay and Urbain, 115; Abramov and Rusanov, 1; Prokopenko, 151; Stoiber, 185). As a direct corollary, indium is more likely to be high in dark sphalerites than in light-colored ones, and the indium content generally varies inversely with the contents of gallium and germanium. Numerous exceptions to these generalizations have been noted.

Lead.—Lead is reported in nearly all analyses of sphalerite (Table 4). The quantitative results, summarized in Table 5, presumably should be taken as a measure of the degree of contamination of the samples. Pure sphalerite is stated by Oftedal (138) to be lead-free, and other investigators' work also indicates that galena or other lead minerals were present in nearly all samples reported to contain appreciable amounts of lead.

Manganese.—Manganese is reported in most analyzed sphalerites. The quantitative data are summarized in Table 5. There is general agreement that the manganese content varies with the iron content and that it is highest in samples from high temperature deposits (de Launay and Urbain, 115; Stoiber, 185; Warren and Thompson, 208; Gabrielson, 60; Schroll, 74; Fryklund and Fletcher, 58). The results of Kullerud (110) agree with this, in general, but with many exceptions.

### HER

and the second

*Mercury.*—Mercury has been reported to be present in about one-fourth of the sphalerites analyzed. The quantitative data are summarized in Table 5. Mercury is found in the highest concentrations in sphalerite of low temperature deposits, according to de Launay and Urbain (115) and Oftedal (138). Kutina (113) found more mercury in the dark bands of "schalenblende" ores from Moresnet, Belgium, than in the light bands.

*Molybdenum.*—Molybdenum has not been looked for by most investigators and has been reported to be present in about 5 percent of the samples in which it was looked for. Semiquantitative analyses are available for only five samples, all reported to contain 10–100 ppm molybdenum.

*Nickel.*—Nickel has not been looked for by most investigators. The references are listed in Table 4 and the quantitative data are summarized in Table 5. Some of the nickel reported may have been present in other minerals, especially pyrite, but probably sphalerite does contain small amounts.

Selenium.—The few data on selenium in sphalerite are summarized in Tables 4 and 5. In the samples studied by Bergenfelt (12) from northern Sweden, an area characterized by high selenium, sphalerite was very much lower in selenium content than associated galena, chalcopyrite, or pyrite. The data of Edwards and Carlos (52) also show low concentrations of selenium in sphalerite, but they found even less in galena.

Silver.—Silver has been reported to be present in about 80 percent of the samples analyzed (Tables 4, 5). The content of silver reported may be merely a measure of the amount of impurities in the samples. According to Oftedal (138), nearly all the samples in which he found more than 50 ppm silver contained galena, silver sulfosalts such as tetrahedrite, or native silver. It remains uncertain whether pure sphalerite contains any silver; if it does, the concentration is probably small.

Thallium.—Thallium has not been looked for by most workers, but has been found in about one-fourth of the samples analyzed. The quantitative data, summarized in Table 5, show a remarkable concentration in the "schalenblende" type. Kutina (113) and Schroll (174) have found that thallium is higher in the dark, lead-rich bands of such ores. This may be in part due to the presence of galena, but some of these "schalenblende" samples contain more thallium than the associated galena. It may be that minerals such as hutchinsonite, (T1,Pb)Ag<sub>2</sub>As<sub>10</sub>S<sub>17</sub>, known to occur in this association (178), are present.

Tin.—The presence of tin has been reported in about half the samples studied. The available quantitative data are summarized in Table 5. The tin reported may have been present in part in some of the samples in galena or chalcopyrite, but there is little doubt that some tin is present in sphalerite. The maximum tin content of pure sphalerite is probably less than 1,000 ppm; nearly all samples containing much tin have been found to have inclusions of stannite or cassiterite, or both (60, 96, 208).

In general, the tin content is more likely to be high in sphalerite from deposits formed at high to intermediate temperatures (115; 185; 208). Kullerud (110) determined temperatures of formation and minor-element content of 54 sphalerites. Of these 33 did not contain tin; most of these were irom low-temp much tin and he the results agre Vanadium.

MIN

sphalerite (Tai quantitative de to 100 ppm vi these, thought temperature d Other Elec

qualitatively nesium may w minerals, and dium, and yt terminations rhodium are Zvyagintzev the Noddaci dack (135) tatively by J same invest and bromina (154, 155) and Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>.

> A sum in Table selenium, Arsen samples; Noddack arsenic v about 1,0 Bisn Gabriel and No Col whose conten Quebe In (Tabl L Node

994

#### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

995

**TSCHER** 

I to be present in about one-fourth ive data are summarized in Table 5. itions in sphalerite of low tempera-Urbain (115) and Oftedal (138). dark bands of "schalenblende" ores bands.

And the second second

been looked for by most investit in about 5 percent of the samples tive analyses are available for only ppm molybdenum.

for by most investigators. The nantitative data are summarized in y have been present in other minlerite does contain small amounts. in sphalerite are summarized in y Bergenfelt (12) from northern lenium, sphalerite was very much ilena, chalcopyrite, or pyrite. The iw low concentrations of selenium ilena.

present in about 80 percent of the ntent of silver reported may be ies in the samples. According to hich he found more than 50 ppm in as tetrahedrite, or native silver. the contains any silver; if it does,

ed for by most workers, but has ples analyzed. The quantitative emarkable concentration in the Schroll (174) have found that is of such ores. This may be in of these "schalenblende" samples alena. It may be that minerals sown to occur in this association

rted in about half the samples summarized in Table 5. The some of the samples in galena ome tin is present in sphalerite. probably less than 1,000 ppm; een found to have inclusions of

be high in sphalerite from detures (115; 185; 208). Kulation and minor-element conntain tin; most of these were from low-temperature deposits. Only one of the remaining 21 contained much tin and had a low temperature of formation (150°, 95 ppm tin), so that the results agree in general with the conclusions of other workers.

Vanadium.—Few data are available on the occurrence of vanadium in sphalerite (Table 4). All of the 36 samples for which quantitative or semiquantitative determinations other than zero have been published contained 10 to 100 ppm vanadium. Warren and Thompson (208), who reported 29 of these, thought that vanadium occurred most commonly in sphalerite from lowtemperature deposits.

Other Elements.—Among the other elements that have been reported qualitatively in sphalerite, silicon, aluminum, calcium, titanium, and magnesium may with some confidence be ascribed to the presence of silicate gangue minerals, and the same way be true for beryllium, barium, chromium, scandium, and yttrium. Tungsten has been reported qualitatively and two determinations gave 2 and 1–10 ppm. Of the platinum metals, palladium and rhodium are each reported qualitatively by one investigator; quantitatively Zvyagintzev and Filippov (215) found 0.4 and 1.5 ppm platinum in 2 samples, the Noddacks (136) reported 0.2 ppm palladium in 1 sample, and Noddack (135) 7 ppm total platinum metals. Rhenium was reported qualitatively by Evrard (54); Noddack (135) found 0.1 ppm in 1 sample. The same investigator also reported 1–10 ppm of scandium, thorium, uranium, and bromine; 0.4 ppm total rare earths; and 10–100 ppm tellurium. Rankama (154, 155) analyzed four samples and reported up to 0.2 ppm each of Nb<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> and Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>. Strock (187) found 0, 0, 0, 30, and 40 ppm lithium in 5 samples.

### Chalcopyrite

A summary of the type of data available and the elements studied is given in Table 6. The quantitative date for cobalt, indium, manganese, nickel, selenium, silver, and tin are summarized in Table 7.

Arsenic.—Hoehne (96) found 255, 1,720, and 3,820 ppm arsenic in 3 samples; the latter two, however, contained arsenopyrite. Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 250 ppm in 1 sample. Oftedal (138) mentions that arsenic was doubtfully present in 2 samples, one of which may have contained about 1,000 ppm.

*Bismuth.*—Bismuth was found in 4 of 32 samples studied by Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) and as a trace in 1 of 3 samples by Oftedal (138). Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 5 ppm bismuth in a sample.

*Cobalt.*—The quantitative data are summarized in Table 7. Auger (7), whose results are given in terms of relative intensities, found that the cobalt content of chalcopyrite increased with depth in both ore bodies at Noranda, Quebec.

Indium.—Indium has been reported qualitatively by several investigators (Table 6). The quantitative data are summarized in Table 7.

Lead.—Lead has been reported qualitatively (Table 6). Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 100 ppm lead in one sample. Auger (7) gives

and the line of the

### SUMMARY OF REFERENCES ON CHALCOPYRITE

Under Type of Data, Q means quantitative analysis, S means semi-quantitative analysis, K means qualitative analysis. Under the elements listed, the symbol X means that the element was present, the symbol — means that the element was looked for, but not found.

Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	As	Sb	Bi	Cd	Co	Ge	In	Pb	Ni	Pt metals	Ag	Sn	Zn	Others
Anderson (1953)	Q, S	7							x							
Auger (1941)	S, K	1				l	Į	ļ	}	$\mathbf{X}$	X	1	X			Ti X, V X
Bergenfelt (1953)	Q	22		l			l		ļ			1		)	)	Se X
Bernard (1954)	K	1		l	x	ļ	{	1	1	X		1	1	)	Į	
Bjørlykke and Jarp (1950)	Q	2		l	[	ļ	X		1	{	1				1	
Borovik, Lizunov and Shcherbina (1941)	Q	6														GaX
Borovik and Prokopenko (1939, 1941)	к	2					}		x							
Borovik and Prokopenko (1938)	К	3		ļ				-	x							
Borovik, Vlodavets and Prokopenko (1938)	Q	3							x							
Brewer and Baker (1936)	S	4		ļ	}	1		]			l	1				
Carstens (1941a)	Q	5		1		1	)	]	Į		Į –				}	Se X
Carstens (1945)	K	1		-		) —		1	{	ļ	X		X		-	$\operatorname{Cr} X, \operatorname{Mo} -, \operatorname{Tr} X, V -$
Eberhard (1908, 1910)	K	7			1	]	[	(	(	ļ .	{	1			1	Sc X, Y $-$
Edwards and Carlos (1954)	Q	21		1		· ·	ł	ľ	{			{		1		Se X
Erametsa (1939)	Q	25		1		l	l	ļ		1				·	1	
Gavelin and Gabrielson (1947)	Q, K	32			X						X			X		Mn X
Goldschmidt and Peters (1932)	Q	1										-	X			Au X
Goldschmidt and Peters (1933)	Q	2						X								
Haberlandt and Schiener	Q	2					-				x	] .		X		
Hartley and Ramage (1897)	ĸ	1							x	х	x		х			TI X

966

AEL FLE

Prokopenko (1938) Brewer and Baker (1936) Carstens (1941a) Carstens (1945)	S Q	<b>3</b> 4 5			b.				$\int \mathbf{x}$					ψ.		FIF
Eberhard (1908, 1910) Edwards and Carlos (1954) Erametsa (1930)	K K Q	1 7 21	-	-		-	x				x		x	_	Se X	200
Gavelin and Gabrielson (1947)	0 Q, К	25 32			x		v		x						$\begin{vmatrix} Cr X, Mo -, Ti X, V - \\ Sc X, Y - \\ Se X \end{vmatrix}$	3
(1932) Goldschmidt and Peters	Q	1					•				x			x	Mn X	
(1933) Haberlandt and Schiener		2						x				_	X		Au X	
Hartley and Ramage (1897)	ĸ	1					-				x			x		
									x	x	x	- 1	x		TI X	

#### TABLE 6 Continued

											•	1			
Type of data	No. of samples	As	Sb	ві	Cd	Co	Ge	In	РЪ	Ni	Pt metals	Ag	Sn	Zn	Others
Q, K	7	-			x	x			x	x	x	х	x	x	Ti X, Be, Cr, Au, Hg, Mn, Te, V, all —
Q	21						ļ				X				
Q	15										X ·				
Q	50			1	ļ	X		]					1		
Q	3	x					L							Í	
К	3		1		}	1	x	-		}		}		1	Ga, Re, II, all - <
Q	1				l		-			}	ļ				<u>ن</u>
1			1		1	[	1		1	(	1	~		~	
К	3	-	- 1		-			X		ļ	]	1 A		<b>^</b>	
Q	1		ł							ļ	1	<b>^</b>	[	[	<u>ب</u>
Q	1		1	1		X			~	1	v	v	l v		An Mo Re W all X:
Q	1	x	X	X								^			Hg -
Q, K	2			1	}								X		0
Q, K	3	x		X	1				[		(			1	
Q	1		ł	X	}	X	1				1	А	ĺ		
K	?														Nh - To -
Q	2			(	ĺ			ł –		1	1	v	ł	v	Mo V
Q, K	4					) X	]	]		-				1	Mn X Ti X
К	2									1	1	1	1	1	
K	1				1	X			]		-	i	1	1	
к	2										-				
Q	1				ļ	}	1					}	1		
Q	1					1		[	[	[	1		1	ł	Mox
Q	2			1		}			]				1	ļ	Mo -
K	?														110
_				(		[	( ·	}		1	- v			1	ł
Q	3														
	Type of data Q, K Q Q Q K Q Q K Q Q K K K Q Q Q K K K K	Type of data         No. of samples           Q, K         7           Q         21           Q         15           Q         50           Q         3           K         3           Q         1           Q         1           Q         1           Q         1           Q, K         3           Q         1           Q, K         2           Q         1           Q         1           Q         2           K         7           Q         3	$ \begin{array}{c c c} T_{\rm Sppe} & N_{\rm O}, & of \\ of & of & of \\ samples & Samples & As \\ \hline Q, K & 7 & - \\ Q & 21 & \\ Q & 15 & \\ Q & 15 & \\ Q & 15 & \\ Q & 1 & \\ K & 3 & - \\ Q & 1 & \\ K & 3 & - \\ Q & 1 & \\ K & 2 & \\ Q, K & 2 & \\ Q, K & 3 & \\ Q & 1 & \\ K & 2 & \\ Q, K & 2 & \\ Q, K & 2 & \\ Q, K & 3 & \\ Q & 1 & \\ K & 2 & \\ Q & 1 & \\ Q & 1$	Type of data         No. of samples         As         Sb           Q, K         7         -            Q         21             Q         15             Q         15             Q         15             Q         1         X            Q         1         X         X           Q         1         X         X           Q         1         X         X           Q, K         2         X            Q, K         2         X            Q, K         2         X            Q, K         2         X            Q, K         4         X            Q, K         1             Q, K         2              Q, K         4              Q         1              Q         1              Q	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$							

results in terms of relative intensities for the variation of the lead contenwith depth at Noranda, Quebec; he found little change.

Manganese and Nickel .- Manganese and nickel have been reported qualitatively (Table 6). The quantitative data are summarized in Table 7. Auger (7) gives data on nickel in terms of relative intensities; he found littlevariation in nickel content with depth.

Platinum Metals and Gold.-Goldschmidt and Peters (62) found 0.2 ppm gold and no platinum or palladium in one sample. Zvyagintzev and Fillipov (215) found 1.0 ppm platinum in 1 sample, none in 2 others. Analyses of 30 samples from various environments are given by Hawley, Lewis, and Wark (81), Hawley and Rimsaite (82), and Hawley, Rimsaite, and Lord (83). The palladium content ranged from traces to 34.3 ppm, with most samples in

### TABLE 7

SUMMARY OF QUANTITATIVE DATA ON MINOR ELEMENTS IN CHALCOPYRITE

	Mon		N	o. of san	nples in	each c	oncentr	ation 1	ange			Tatal	Cono:
Ele- ment	ppm	1% or more	5,000- 9,999 ppm	1,000- 4,999 ppm	500 999 ppm	200- 499 ppm	100- 199 ppm	50 99 ppm	10- 49 ppm	<10 ppm	Not found	No. samples	tivity ppm
Co	1,000- 2,000	~		2	1	6ª	1	5	13 <sup>b</sup>	-	60	88	10
In	1,000	-	-	4	3	-		5	2	6	13	33	1-10
Mn	1-2%	2	-	1	1	5	2	1	16	5	3	36	10
Ni	1,000-	-		2	-	11°	4	3	22 <sup>d</sup>	4	39	85	10-15
	2,000		{		{						[	{	
Se	2,100			2	2	7	5	4	22	1	-	43	1-10
Ag	2,300			1	2	10	1	1	2	-	-	8	?
Sn	770			-	1	1	3	2	2		1	10	10
	1		{	1		}	1	{	1	}	1	1	

\* Including 4 samples stated to contain 100-1,000 ppm. One sample contained arsenopyrite. <sup>b</sup> Including 6 samples stated to contain 10-100 ppm.

<sup>c</sup> Including 10 samples stated to contain 100-1,000 ppm.

<sup>d</sup> Including 17 samples stated to contain 10-100 ppm.

\* Including 1 sample stated to contain 100-1,000 ppm.

the range of 0.02 to 2.0 ppm; only two samples, with 34.3 and 14.8 ppm had more than 2 ppm. Platinum was absent or present in traces in about half the samples and the highest content found was 3.8 ppm. Rhodium was present in still smaller amounts, the highest content being 0.27 ppm. Ruthenium was found in 3 samples, one containing 0.09 ppm, the others in amounts reported as traces. Noddack and Noddack (136) found 20 ppm gold, 0.1 ppm platinum, and none of the other platinum group metals in one sample.

Selenium.-Sludge from the electrolytic refining of copper is now the main source of selenium. The quantitative data on selenium in chalcopyrite are summarized in Table 7. The highest selenium contents are those reported by Bergenfelt (12) from mines in northern Sweden; most of the recent analyses by Edwards and Carlos (52) from Australian localities show much lower selenium contents, which may indicate that regional effects are more important than the conditions of formation.

Silver.-6). Auger The few of Tin .---Gavelin at The tin O data are 🗈 Other in chalco and Y.

> Antin Cadmi Galli Gerni Moin Rhen Thall Titan Tun Varia Zine È. ċ

Mue those 🗄 a summi Ars Despite other Neuha contain such 1 a 5.41 Ca sedin 400-7 arser sedir more in th in t dep

998

### FISCHER

or the variation of the lead content (I little change.

and nickel have been reported qualidata are summarized in Table 7. of relative intensities; he found little

uidt and Peters (62) found 0.2 ppm sample. Zvyagintzev and Fillipov e. none in 2 others. Analyses of 30 iven by Hawley, Lewis, and Wark Hawley, Rimsaite, and Lord (83). to 34.3 ppm, with most samples in

NOR ELEMENTS IN CHALCOPYRITE

aren 	ration	range			1	
100- 1200 20m	50- 99 Ppm	10- 49 Ppm	<10 ppm	Not	Tota No. sample	Sensi- tivity ppm
ĩ	5	13 <sup>b</sup>		60	88	10
	5 +1 -3	2 16 22 <sup>d</sup>	6 5 4	13 3 39	33 36 85	1-10 10 10-15
2 2 2	$\begin{array}{c c} 1\\1\\2\end{array}$	22 2 2	1 		43 8 10	1-10 ? 10

no ppm. One sample contained arseno-

' ppm. bm.

om.

ples, with 34.3 and 14.8 ppm had present in traces in about half I was 3.8 ppm. Rhodium was content being 0.27 ppm. Ruthe-0.09 ppm, the others in amounts (136) found 20 ppm gold, 0.1 m<sup>-</sup> group metals in one sample. timing of copper is now the main on selenium in chalcopyrite are a contents are those reported by en; most of the recent analyses an localities show much lower onal effects are more important

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

999

Silver.—Silver has been reported qualitatively by many workers (Table 6). Auger (7) gives data on the variation with depth at Noranda, Quebec. The few quantitative data are summarized in Table 7.

Tin.—Tin has been reported qualitatively by many workers (Table 6). Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) found it in 52 percent of the samples examined. The tin content may be present as exsolved stannite (153). The quantitative data are summarized in Table 7.

Other Elements.—The following additional elements have been reported in chalcopyrite, (see Table 6): Sb, Cd, Cr, Ga, Ge, Mo, Re, Sc, Tl, Ti, V, W, and Y. The following quantitative determinations have been published:

Antimony 20 ppm in 1 (136).

Cadmium 180 ppm in 1 (136).

Gallium 100, 50, 10, 0, 0, and 0 ppm in 6 samples (21).

Germanium 10 and 50 ppm Ge in 2 (66).

Molybdenum 70, 70, 900 ppm in 3 (136; 212).

Rhenium 0.08 ppm in 1 (136).

Thallium 0.03 ppm in 1 (179).

Titanium Approx. 700 ppm in 1 (7).

*Tungsten* 2 ppm in 1 (136).

Vanadium 250 and 100-1000 ppm in 2 (136; 7).

Zinc Approx. 1 percent in 1 (7), 3,500 ppm in 1, none in 2 others (161). Auger (7) found an increase in the zinc content of chalcopyrite with depth at Noranda, Quebec.

### Pyrite and Marcasite

Much has been published on the minor elements in pyrite, very little on those in marcasite. Table 8 summarizes the references, and Table 9 gives a summary of the data on some of the elements.

Arsenic.—The presence of arsenic has been reported by many workers. Despite the uncertainty caused by the presence of admixed arsenopyrite and other arsenic-bearing minerals, arsenic probably does occur in pure pyrite. Neuhaus (132) and Hoehne (97) reported that optically homogenous pyrite contained about 5 percent and 2.70 percent, respectively; Neuhaus found that such pyrite had a unit cell with a 5.442 A compared to that of pure pyrite, a 5.411 A, and concluded that the arsenic was present in true solid solution.

Carstens (35, 36, 37) found little difference in the arsenic content of sedimentary pyrite (mostly 600–900 ppm) and of hydrothermal pyrite (mostly 400–700 ppm). The data of Talluri (191) show more than 0.1 percent arsenic in 23 of 33 samples of pyrite of eruptive origin, whereas only 3 of 16 sedimentary pyrite samples contained that much arsenic. Hawley (80) found more arsenic in low-temperature than in high-temperature pyrite in four veins in the Porcupine district, Ontario.

Hawley (80) also gives data on the variation of arsenic content with depth in two mines. Considerable variation was shown, but no definite trend with depth was established. One set of samples showed higher arsenic content in

### TABLE 8

### SUMMARY OF REFERENCES ON PYRITE (P) AND MARCASITE (M)

Under Type of Data, Q means quantitative analysis, S means semi-quantitative analysis, K means qualitative analysis. Under the elements listed, the symbol X means that the element was present, the symbol - means that the element was looked for, but not found.

												1		1	1		
Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	As	Sb	Bi	Co	Cu	In	РЪ	Mn	Ni	Ag	Sn	v	Zn	Others	
Ahlfeld and Moritz (1933) Anderson (1953)	S K	3P 8P					x	-		x		x			x	Cd —, Ge —	
Antipov (1896) Auger (1941)	о s, к	2M 2M 124P	x			x		x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	TI X Cd, Cr, Mo, Nb, Ti, Y, all X	V
Bergenfelt (1953) Bernard (1953)	Q K	24P 5P	X	x	x		x		x	$\mathbf{x}_{i}$		x	x		x	Se X	AICH.
Bernard (1954) Bernard and Padera (1954) Bjørlykke (1945)	K Q	2P 27P	л			X										Ва Х	AEL I
Bjørlykke and Jarp (1950) Borovik, Lizunov, and Shcherbina (1941)	Q Q	35P 11P				^								•		Ga X	FLEIS
Borovik and Prokopenko (1938, 1939) Borovik, Vlodavets, and	к Q	7P 5P						x									CHE
Prokopenko (1938) Brewer and Baker (1936) Cambel and Kupčo (1953)	к к	3P 17P				x	x			x	x			x	x	Ba, Cr, Mo, Sr, all X	70
Carstens (1941a, b, c) Carstens (1942a)	Q K,Q	12P 10P	-	_	-	X X	x	-	x	x	X X	x	x	x	x	Cd, Mo, Se, Ti, all X; Ga, Ge, Tl, all –	
Carstens (1942c) Carstens (1943) Claussen (1934)	Q S K	7P 2P 5P	-	_	x	x x	x		x	-	x x	_	x	x x	-	Au, Mo, Pd, Tl, W, Zr, all X: Cr. Ir, Sr, all –	
Eberhard (1910) Edwards and Carlos (1954)	к Q	7P 60P 5M														Y X, Sc – Se X	
Erametsa (1939)	Q	10P					ļ										
Evrard (1945)	к	4 M					x		x	x		X	x		x	Ge X, Tl X	•

1000

TABLE CONTRACT

Brewer and Baker (1936) Cambel and Kupćo (1953) Carstens (1941a, b, c) Carstens (1942a) Carstens (1942c) Carstens (1943) Claussen (1934) Eberhard (1910) Edwards and Carlos (1954) Erametsa (1939) Evrard (1945)	K K Q K, Q S K K Q Q K	31 <sup>9</sup> 1719 1219 1019 719 219 519 719 6019 510 100 100 110 400	-	 x	x x x x x	x x x	-	x x x	x x -	x x x x x	x 	x	x x x x	x x -	Ba, Cr, Mo, Sr, all X Se X Cd, Mo, Se, Tl, all X; Ga, Ge, Tl, all – Au, Mo, Pd, Tl, W, Zr, all X; Cr, Ir, Sr, all – Y X, Sc – Se X	- UED -
				 		x		x	x		x	x		x	Ge X, TI X	

	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	[	1	1		1	)	
Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	As	Sb	Bi	Co	Cu	In	Рb	Mn	Ni	Ag	Sn	v	Zn	Others
Gavelin and Gabrielson	Q, K	134P			x	x				x	x		x		x	
Goldschmidt and Hefter	Q	1P														Se X
Goldschmidt and Peters	Q	3M														Ga X
Goldschmidt and Peters (1933)	Q	7P			-											Ge X
Goldschmidt and Peters (1934)	S, K	2P	x													
Goldschmidt and Strock	Q	8P 1M						ĺ .								Se X
Haberlandt and Schiener	Q	18P				х					x					
Hartley and Ramage	K	9P 1M					x	x	x	X	x	x				Ga X, TI X
Hawley (1952)	Q, S	±200P	х		x	x			x	x	x	x	x	x	X	Ba, Cr, Au, Mo, Sr, Te, Ti, all X
Hawley, Lewis, and Wark	Q, K	10P 2M	x	x	-	x	x		x	x	x	x	x	x	x	Cr, Au, Pd, Pt, Ti, all X
Hawley and Rimsaite (1953)	Q	3P														Pd, Pt, Rh, all X
Hawley, Rimsaite, and Lord (1953)	Q	1P										ļ				Pd X
Hayase and Otsuka (1953)	к	4P				х	x			v		}	x			TiX
Hegemann (1939, 1941)	Q	16P				v	v			X	x			}	x	
Hegemann (1943) Hegemann (1949)	Q	044 P 9 P	x			x	x		x	x	x		}	x		Mo X, Ti X
Hegemann and Leybold	Q	2M 14P	x	x	x	x	x		x	x	x	x	x		x	Au X, Ti X, Tl X
Hoehne (1934)	Q	3P	x	-			}				[		х			
Hoehne (1952)	Q	14P 3M	x													
Horalek (1951) Huttenhain (1939) Kimura, Nagashima, et al. (1952)	Q K, Q S	7P ?P 3P	x	x		x x	x		x		x	x				Au X Ge —

TABLE 8—Continued

MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

						TAB	SLE 8		unue	1								
Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	As	Sb	Bi	Co	Cu	In	Рь	Mn	Ni	Ag	Sn	v	Zn	Others	1002	
Kinoshita and Muta (1950)	ĸ	26P	x	x	x		x	x	x	x		x	x	x	x	Ge, Au, Hg, Te, W, all X		
Kutina (1949)	ĸ	1P 16P	x	x			x		x							Au X		
Minguzzi and Talluri	Q, K	46P	x	x	x	x	X		x	x	x	x	x	w		Ba, B, Cr, Au, W, all X		
Moritz (1933) Murakami (1950)	S Q, К	1P 2P	x		x		x		x	x				х		TI X		
Nakabe (1951) Neuhaus (1942)	Q	10M 1P 2P	x			x											М	
Newhouse (1934)	S, K	5P		l	ļ	v	l	ļ		x	x	{		х		Mo X, W X	IC.	
Nickel (1954) Noddack and Noddack (1941)	QQ	16P 3P 1M	x	x	x	^	x		x			x	x	х		Cd, Ge, Au, Hg, Mo, Pt metals, Re, W, all X	HAE	
Oftedal (1940) Onishi and Sandell (1955)	S Q	2P 2P	x			x		v									L FL	
Prokopenko (1941c, 1941d) Rophama (1944, 1948)		6P			1		l			ļ						Nb X, Ta X	EI.	
Rost (1939)	Q, K	78P				x	X			X		X			X	Rh, Ru, Se, Ti, all X	SCI	
Saito (1953) Schneiderhöhn (1929a, b)	S, K	6P 1P	^			x					x			х		Pt metals X	ΗE	
Schneiderhöhn (1930)	к	?P	x														77	
Schroll (1953b)	Q, K	11P	x						x		x				x	TI X		
Shaw (1952a, 1952b)	Q	1P 1M		l				-										
Talluri (1951)	Q	53P	x		l											Se X		
Tsuge and Terada (1950)	Q Q	M		ļ		Į									v			
Vahatalo (1953)	Q	1P	ŀ		l	x	x		ļ	x		ļ			•	Se X, Te X		
Vakhrushev (1940) Vogel (1894)	K K	2P										l				TI X		
Vogt (1893)	Q	4P		Ì		x										Se X		
Williams and Byers (1934)		2 M														Pt N		
Zvyagintzev and Fillipov (1933)	Q	4 P		١	ļ	1	1	1	1	1								1996

SUMMARY OF QUANTITATIVE DATA ON MINOR ELEMENTS IN PYRITE (P) AND MARCASITE (M)

station and since home of a finite

 $MI^{**}$ 

in disity

schneiderhöhn (19,30)	K	2P	x							1 - 1	x			1	X	Rh, Ru, Se, Ti, all X	
Schroll (1953b)	10 P	M				1		E .								Pt metals X	
Shaw (1952a, 1952b)	Q, K	11P 11M	X						x		x				l x		
Talluri (1051)	Q Q	1P 1M						-			1						
Tsuge and Terada (1950)	Q	53P	х													TI X	
Vahatalo (1953) Vakhrushev (1940) Vogel (1894)	Q Q K	M 1P 4P 2P				x	x			x	x				x	Se X	
Williams and Byers (1934)	QQ	4P 21P				x					x					Se X, Te X Tl X	
Zvyagintzev and Fillipov (1935)	Q	2M 4P														Se X	
	1	1	i	!	ł	1	ļ				1		- 1			Pt X	

### TABLE 9

### Summary of Quantitative Data on Minor Elements in Pyrite (P) and Marcasite (M)

					-	No. of sam	ples in eac	h concentr	ation rang	e			Total	MI
Element	Max. conen. ppm	Type of sample	1% or more	5,000- 10,000 ppm	1,000- 4,999 ppm	500–999 ppm	200–499 ppm	100–199 ppm	50–99 ppm	10-49 ppm	<10 ppm	Not found	No. samples	ppm OR
As As 7. Sb Sb 6 Bi	$\pm 5\%$ 7,800 700 - 100	P M P M P	9 	2 1  	13 	22 1 1 -	7 1 1 	4 2 3 - 1	4  1 	5 1 1  4	- - 1 - 1	33 	99 6 35 2 17	10-50? 10-50? 50? 10-100? 10-100?
Bi Co	>2.5%	M P	26	 45	188	134	197	120	62	160	 16	1 149	1 1,097	2-500, mostly 10-30
Pb Pb Mn Ni Ni Se	$ \begin{array}{c c} \sim 6\% \\ 5,000 \\ 200 \\ 1\% \\ \sim 2.5\% \\ - \\ 300 \end{array} $	P P M P M P P	78   5 		97 3  68 60 	4  59 71 				2 		5  427 155 2 3	24 1 927 1,055 2 115	10 10 2-100 2-20 1-10 10 E SULFID
Se 7 Ag 'Tl 7 Sn 7 Ti 7 Ti V V V 2n	$ \begin{array}{c c} 11\\ 200\\ 100\\ 5,300\\ 400\\ 4\\ 600\\ 80\\ \sim 1,000\\ 200\\ \sim 4.5\% \end{array} $	M P P M P M P M P P P		- - - - - - - - - - - - 58		- - - - - - - - - - - - 29	$ \begin{array}{c} - \\ 1 \\ - \\ 2 \\ - \\ 8 \\ - \\ 1 \\ 16 \end{array} $	1 1 2 5 22		1 7 1 3 - 2 8 -	7 19 1 	$     \begin{array}{r}       1 \\       39 \\       11 \\       3 \\       11 \\       - \\       7 \\       - \\       3 \\       2 \\       460 \\       \end{array} $	9 73 17 12 18 1 21 1 18 3 722	1-10 5-30 10 10 10 10 10 10 2 10 10 2 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10

,

1003

- detectoble by probe le 1000 pjom Scusiturity

ander straub (15 specielaristica)

and and a second se The second se

fine-grained material than in coarse crystals of pyrite, but the reverse was true in a second set of samples. In two sets of samples, Hoehne (97) found much more arsenic in pyrite than in marcasite from the same deposit.

Antimony.—The data on antimony in Table 9 are too few to permit any conclusions to be drawn; the antimony reported might well be due to impurities.

Bismuth.—In addition to the few data in Table 9, Hawley (80) records intensity ratios for 28 samples, 19 from the Powell-Rouyn mine, Quebec. These show a slight decrease in the average bismuth content with depth. Coarse material was higher in bismuth than fine-grained material.

Cobalt.—The cobalt content of pyrite has been the subject of much investigation, as is apparent from Tables 8 and 9. Artificial  $CoS_2$  and the mineral cattierite (103), which contains nearly 90 percent  $CoS_2$ , are isostructural with pyrite, so that a complete series appears to be possible. Intermediate members seem, however, to be very rare; Johansson (100) gives an analysis with 13.90 percent cobalt. Hegemann (87) stated that nearly all samples containing more than 1 percent cobalt showed zoning phenomena and that many contained cobaltite.

The data indicate that generalizations as to the cobalt content and the Co:Ni ratio must be made with considerable caution. Pyrite from sulfide ore deposits generally contains appreciable amounts of cobalt and has Co > Ni, but many exceptions have been noted; although considerable variation has been reported in pyrite from a single deposit, both the Co content and the Co:Ni ratio appear to be characteristics of the individual deposit (61, 80).

According to Carstens (35, 37, 38, 40), pyrite of sedimentary origin is characterized by containing less than 100 ppm cobalt and Co < Ni, whereas pyrite of hydrothermal origin has 400–2400 (average about 500) ppm cobalt and Co > Ni. His generalizations as to pyrite of sedimentary origin have been confirmed; Hegemann (87) reported Co < Ni in 68 of 74 such samples. only two of which contained more than 100 ppm Co, and Talluri (191) found Co < Ni in 10 of 13 samples of sedimentary origin. Far more variation is shown by the analyses of pyrite of hydrothermal origin; the content of Co reported ranges from traces to more than 1 percent, and although most samples have Co > Ni, the reverse relation is not uncommon.

Pyrite from high-temperature deposits (17, 87) is generally high in cobalt. Hawley (80) gave analyses of four pairs of samples for which temperatures of formation had been measured. The cobalt content was higher in the hightemperature sample in all four pairs, and the Co:Ni ratio was higher in the high-temperature sample in three of the four. Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) also found that the cobalt content and the Co:Ni ratio were higher in hightemperature deposits, but noted exceptions and considered that the effect of temperature was slight. Hegemann (87) found that in metamorphosed sulfide deposits the cobalt content increased with increasing degree of metamorphism. Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) considered that the effect of type of wall rock was slight; Hawley (80) found some indication of higher cobalt content in samples from slate or sericite than in samples from quartz.

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

1005

of pyrite, but the reverse was of samples, Hoehne (97) found c from the same deposit.

ble 9 are too few to permit any orted might well be due to im-

Table 9, Hawley (80) records e Powell-Rouyn mine, Quebec. ge bismuth content with depth. fine-grained material.

been the subject of much investi-Artificial  $CoS_2$  and the mineral cent  $CoS_2$ , are isostructural with e possible. Intermediate memon (100) gives an analysis with d that nearly all samples conning phenomena and that many

to the cobalt content and the e caution. Pyrite from sulfide unts of cobalt and has m Co > Ni, ugh considerable variation has , both the Co content and the ne individual deposit (61, 80). pyrite of sedimentary origin is cobalt and Co < Ni, whereas average about 500) ppm cobalt te of sedimentary origin have < Ni in 68 of 74 such samples, n Co, and Talluri (191) found origin. Far more variation is ll origin; the content of Co rent, and although most samples mmon.

87) is generally high in cobalt. ples for which temperatures of itent was higher in the high-Co: Ni ratio was higher in the Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) Ni ratio were higher in highconsidered that the effect of that in metamorphosed sulfide sing degree of metamorphism. The effect of type of wall rock in of higher cobalt content in om quartz. The variation of cobalt content with depth in several Canadian mines has been studied by Auger (7) and Hawley (80). The data show increases, decreases, and no change in the cobalt content with depth for different mines.

*Copper.*—Copper has been reported to be present in most samples of pyrite analyzed (Table 8), but it seems probable that most, if not all, of it is present as admixed chalcopyrite or other copper minerals. Pyrite of hydrothermal deposits generally contains more copper than pyrite of sedimentary deposits, according to Carstens (35, 37, 38).

Gold.—Gold has been determined quantitatively (Table 8) in 36 samples of pyrite and 1 marcasite, the content reported being less than 10 ppm except for 5 samples (12, 20, 20, 70, and 200 ppm Au) reported by Minguzzi (123) and by Hegemann and Leybold (91). Detailed studies of the distribution of gold in pyrite of individual mines have been made by Hawley (80), the data being given in terms of relative intensities. Because much, if not all, of the gold reported is present as free gold (7; 80), its gold content varies greatly from sample to sample. No marked trends of gold content with temperature of formation, type of wall rock, or depth in a deposit were established; structural controls, such as proximity to a contact, appeared to have a greater effect.

Lead.—Few data are available on the lead content of pyrite. It is probable that the lead reported represents admixed galena or other sulfides. In addition to the results summarized in Table 9, Auger (7) and Hawley (80) give results in terms of relative intensities on the variation of lead content of pyrite with depth in various Canadian gold mines. The lead content showed slight increases with depth in some of the mines, but it is uncertain whether these are significant. The effects of temperature of formation, grain size, and variation in host rock (80) on the lead content of pyrite seem to be small.

Manganese.—Hauerite,  $MnS_2$ , is isostructural with pyrite, but the type of bonding is apparently different (86), so that there is only very limited replacement of iron by manganese in pyrite. The data are summarized in Table 9; no determinations were found of manganese in marcasite. In addition, data in terms of relative intensities are given by Auger (7) and Hawley (80). Auger found a decrease in manganese content with depth at one mine; Hawley found slight increases at two mines, slight decreases at two others, and no trend at another. His data on the effects of grain size, wall-rock variation, and temperature of formation do not seem to indicate any significant trends. Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) found no appreciable differences in the manganese content of pyrite from higher or lower temperature deposits. They found a slight tendency, of doubtful significance, for pyrite from zincrich ores to contain more manganese than pyrite from copper-rich ores.

Nickel.—Artificial NiS<sub>2</sub> and the minerals vacsite (nearly pure NiS<sub>2</sub>) and bravoite, (Ni,Fe)S<sub>2</sub>, are isostructural with pyrite. In the series  $FeS_2$ -NiS<sub>2</sub>, natural material has not yet been reported in the range NiS<sub>2</sub> 60 to 90 percent, but the systematic variation of unit cell size and specific gravity indicates that the complete series can exist (8; 103; 15). Samples of high nickel content are commonly zoned and some contain admixed millerite or other nickel

### CHER

sulfides (86, 87). On these grounds Hegemann and also Kalb (102) believe that there is not a continuous series between pyrite and bravoite.

The quantitative data are summarized in Table 9, which shows clearly that nickel is generally present in lower amounts than is cobalt. Generalizations as to the nickel content of pyrite from various types of deposits are even less certain than those for cobalt. Pyrite of high-temperature and hydrothermal sulfide deposits has only a slightly higher average nickel content than pyrite of sedimentary origin and the ranges of concentration overlap. Variations of the Co:Ni ratio have been discussed above under Cobalt. Hawley found that the nickel content was a little higher in high-temperature samples; Gavelin and Gabrielson found little or no effect of temperature of formation.

The variation of the nickel content of pyrite with depth has been studied by Auger (7) and Hawley (80) for seven deposits. No systematic trend could be determined, both increases and decreases being noted. Hawley found considerable variation of the nickel content with different wall rocks. Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) reported that pyrite of zinc-rich ores had a slightly higher nickel content than pyrite of copper-rich ores.

Platinum Metals.—Analyses of 9 samples of pyrite and one marcasite have been published, as indicated in Table 8. Schneiderhöhn (166, 167) found 10–100 ppm of Pt and Pd, and 0.1–1 ppm Ru, Rh, and Ir. The other analyses show much less, up to 0.38 ppm Pt and 0.5 ppm Pd.

Selenium.—The available analyses are summarized in Table 9. except those of Tsuge and Terada (197), who found 0.2 to 39, average 12.6 ppm selenium. Carstens (35, 37) found no selenium in pyrite of sedimentary origin and more than 10 ppm Se in pyrite of hydrothermal origin. Edwards and Carlos (52) found that pyrite and marcasite of sedimentary supergene origin had low contents of Se and very high S:Se ratios, mostly above 100,000; in contrast, most pyrite of hydrothermal origin had S:Se ratios below 20,000. A few pyrites of hydrothermal origin, however, had S:Se ratios above 100,000, so that some caution is necessary in using this criterion of origin.

Silver.—The quantitative data are summarized in Table 9. Additional data in terms of intensity ratios are given by Auger (7) and Hawley (80). The variation of the silver content with depth was determined by them for 7 deposits; both increases and decreases with depth were noted. Hawley found that the silver content was higher in the low-temperature pyrite than in the high-temperature pyrite of three of four pairs studied; as, however, part at least of the silver was present in native gold that may have been introduced after the pyrite formed, the results may not be significant. Hawley also found that in 6 of 7 samples, the silver content decreased with increasing distance from a porphyry contact. He also studied the variation in silver content of pyrite with changes in the type of host rock.

Thallium.—The few quantitative data on thallium are summarized in Table 9. The notable enrichment of thallium in marcasite as compared to pyrite is evident; no explanation has been offered. It will be recalled that the "schalenblende" type of ZnS shows a similar enrichment in thallium.

Tin.-In addition to the scanty data summarized in Table 9, Hawley (80)

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

1007

and the second second second

THER

mann and also Kalb (102) believe pyrite and bravoite.

n Table 9, which shows clearly unts than is cobalt. Generalizaarious types of deposits are even of high-temperature and hydrohigher average nickel content ranges of concentration overlap. discussed above under Cobalt. little higher in high-temperature or no effect of temperature of

tite with depth has been studied deposits. No systematic trend ecreases being noted. Hawley ntent with different wall rocks. pyrite of zinc-rich ores had a opper-rich ores.

es of pyrite and one marcasite 8. Schneiderhöhn (166, 167) pm Ru. Rh, and Ir. The other und 0.5 ppm Pd.

ummarized in Table 9, except id 0.2 to 39, average 12.6 ppm nium in pyrite of sedimentary hydrothermal origin. Edwards asite of sedimentary supergene Se ratios, mostly above 100,000; had S:Se ratios below 20,000. ever, had S:Se ratios above sing this criterion of origin.

rized in Table 9. Additional Auger (7) and Hawley (80). was determined by them for 7 th were noted. Hawley found emperature pyrite than in the studied; as, however, part at hat may have been introduced gnificant. Hawley also found ased with increasing distance variation in silver content of

thallium are summarized in in marcasite as compared to I. It will be recalled that the ichment in thallium. zed in Table 9, Hawley (80)

is recorded analyses in terms of relative intensity ratios. His data indicate insiderable irregular variation of the tin content with depth in individual ines, with temperature of formation, grain size, and wall rock, but no certain rends can be identified.

Titanium.-In addition to the data summarized in Table 9, Auger (7) and Hawley (80) reported spectrographic analyses in terms of relative incensities. No consistent trend in titanium content with depth was found. Hawley's data show considerable variation in titanium content with variation n host rock, but this may have been in part due to inclusions. The results adicate higher titanium contents in fine-grained pyrite than in coarse pyrite rom the same mine.

Vanadium.-The few quantitative determinations are summarized in Table Auger (7) found a notable increase (from about 300 to about 1000 ppm) with depth in both ore bodies at Noranda, but the data of Hawley (80), given in terms of intensity, show no variation or very slight decreases with lepth in four other Canadian mines. Hawley's data also indicate no significant variations of vanadium content with grain size or with variation in wall rock. Carstens (41), on the basis of a few analyses, reported vanadium to be absent in pyrite of hydrothermal sulfide deposits and present in pyrite of sedimentary deposits.

Zinc .-- The zinc reported in analyses of pyrite is probably to be regarded as a measure of the amount of admixed sphalerite present; probably very little is present in isomorphous substitution (86). Data in terms of intensity ratios are given by Auger (7) and Hawley (80), who studied the variation of zinc content with depth in five mines. They found no marked trends, both increases and decreases being noted, with the latter more common. Variations with degree of fineness and with variation of wall rock were also studied by Hawley; the data do not seem to indicate any notable trends.

Other Elements .-- Qualitative tests for various elements are reported in Table 8; following are additional data:

*Cadmium*—Noddack and Noddack (136) found 10 ppm in 1 of 3 pyrites, none in 1 marcasite.

Chromium-No quantitative determinations are available, but Auger (7) and Hawley (80) give data in the form of relative intensities. Auger reported a sharp decrease in the chromium content with depth at the Hollinger mine, but Hawley found both increases and decreases, none marked, with depth in four Canadian mines. Auger found that pyrite from massive sulfide deposits contained little or no chromium, whereas, that from vein type deposits contained large amounts of chromium.

Gallium-Goldschmidt and Peters (1931) found 5 ppm Ga in 1 of 3 marcasites analyzed; Borovik, Lizunov, and Shcherbina (21) found 50-100 ppm Ga in 6 pyrites, none in 5.

Germanium-Goldschmidt and Peters (66) reported 50, 30, 5, 5, 5, 0, 0 ppm Ge in 7 samples of sedimentary pyrite; Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 20, 10, and 8 ppm Ge in 3 samples of pyrite, 90 ppm Ge in a marcasite.

Indium—The presence of indium has been reported in pyrite by severa workers (Table 8). Borovik, Vlodavets, and Prokopenko (26) found  $|_1 < 10, < 10, 0, and 0$  ppm In in 5 samples of pyrite.

*Mercury*—Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 0.4 ppm Hg in a pyrite sample; two others and a marcasite contained no mercury.

*Molybdenum*—Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 5, 10, and 20 ppr Mo in 3 pyrites and 30 ppm in a marcasite; Hegemann (88) found 10 ppm in 3 pyrites, none in 6 pyrites and 2 marcasites. Auger (7) stated that molybdenum was absent in pyrite from massive sulfide deposits, but commonly present in pyrite of vein-type deposits. Hawley (80) gave data in the form of relative intensities for pyrite from four Canadian deposits. No significant variations of the molybdenum content with depth, wall rock, or fineness of grain were noted.

*Rhenium*—Noddack and Noddack (136) found 0.01 ppm Re in 2 samples of pyrite, none in a third, and 0.03 ppm Re in a marcasite.

Strontium and Barium—No quantitative data are available. Auger (7) and Hawley (80) gave results in terms of intensity ratios on the variation with depth in individual mines. Hawley found marked variation of the barium and strontium contents of pyrite from different host rocks.

Tantalum and Niobium—Rankama (154, 155) found 0.08 ppm Ta in one of six pyrites analyzed, and 0.07, 0.7 ppm Nb in two of the same samples.

*Tellurium*—Vakhrushev (202) reported 20, 20, 290, and 340 ppm tellurium in four samples. Hawley (80) studied the variation of tellurium content, in terms of intensity ratios, with depth in individual mines. The tellurium content varied, in general, with the gold content; tellurium was probably present as gold tellurides. Little variation was observed in the tellurium content of pyrite from different wall rocks.

### Pyrrhotite and Troilite

Table 10 summarizes the references on pyrrhotite and troilite; Table 11 summarizes the quantitative data for the elements on which most work has been done.

Antimony.—Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 10 ppm in one of three pyrrhotite samples and 4 ppm in one of three troilites from meteorites.

Arsenic.—Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 20, 50, and 150 ppm. As in three pyrrhotites, 100, 200, and 600 ppm As in three troilites from meteorites. Onishi and Sandell (140) found much lower contents, 8 and 11 ppm as in two composites of troilites from meteorites.

*Bismuth.*—Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 3 ppm Bi in 1 of 3 pyrrhotites, 0.2 ppm Bi in 1 of 3 troilites from meteorites.

Chromium.—Rost (161) reported 30, 50, and 60 ppm Cr in 3 samples.

*Cobalt.*—The quantitative data on cobalt are summarized in Table 11. Part at least of the cobalt reported is probably present as intergrown or exsolved pentlandite (153, p. 409–411); the limit of isomorphous replacement of iron by cobalt in pyrrhotite is not known, but is apparently below 1 percent (161, 86).

1008

Gavelin and the Co: Ni to haracteristics variation with tabrielson notito be higher in

MIN

were many over with depth at the Fryklund and 1.500 feet of a Copper.

marized in Tai or cubanite.

Germanite pyrrhotites. v irom meteorit Gold.—G

Noddack and and 0.5, 0.2, a found 1-10 a Au in 1 sam Lead.--N

3 pyrrhotites (7) found in Mine, Quese

Mangani apparent ind is ascribed MnS; ala found no s

formation. Molv<sup>1</sup>

> ppm Mo in Sandell an Nickel

> > certainty

(153, p. . nickel con-Hegeman to have lieffect of content in ores. A at the No

variatio

d'Alene

Plat

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS 1009

ISCHER

been reported in pyrite by sever. , and Prokopenko (26) found to of pyrite.

b) reported 0.4 ppm Hg in a pyrened no mercury.

(136) reported 5, 10, and 20 pp. ; Hegemann (88) found 10 ppm : arcasites. Auger (7) stated the ssive sulfide deposits, but common Hawley (80) gave data in the for-Canadian deposits. No significanith depth, wall rock, or fineness of

6) found 0.01 ppm Re in 2 sample. te in a marcasite.

ive data are available. Auger (7 of intensity ratios on the variation ey found marked variation of the 'om different host rocks.

54, 155) found 0.08 ppm Ta in one r Nb in two of the same samples. ted 20, 20, 290, and 340 ppm teludied the variation of tellurium conepth in individual mines. The telre gold content; tellurium was probtiation was observed in the tellurium s.

### 1 Troilite

on pyrrhotite and troilite; Table 11 elements on which most work has

(136) reported 10 ppm in one of ae of three troilites from meteorites. 36) reported 20, 50, and 150 ppm. 300 ppm As in three troilites from found much lower contents, 8 and roun meteorites.

30) reported 3 ppm Bi in 1 of 3 from meteorites.

50, and 60 ppm Cr in 3 samples. balt are summarized in Table 11.

the limit of isomorphous replaceknown, but is apparently below 1 Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) found no general trend in the cobalt content r the Co:Ni ratio in the pyrrhotites they studied; they seemed to be specific haracteristics of individual ore deposits rather than to indicate systematic ariation with temperature of formation or type of deposit. Gavelin and inbrielson noted that, in general, pyrrhotite from the copper-rich ore tended a be higher in cobalt content than pyrrhotite from zinc-rich ore, but there were many overlaps. Auger (7) gave data on the variation of cobalt content with depth at the Noranda Mine, Quebec. He found an increase with depth. Fryklund and Harner (59) found erratic variation of the cobalt content along 1,500 feet of a single ore shoot in the Coeur d'Alene district.

*Copper.*—Much, if not all, of the copper reported in pyrrhotite, as summarized in Table 11, is probably present as admixed or exsolved chalcopyrite or cubanite.

*Germanium.*—Noddack and Noddack reported 60, 20, and 0 ppm Ge in 3 pyrrhotites, very large amounts of Ge in 2 and 600 ppm Ge in 1 of 3 troilites from meteorites.

Gold.—Goldschmidt and Peters (65) reported 0.5 ppm Au in one sample. Noddack and Noddack (136) found 2 ppm Au in one of three pyrrhotites and 0.5, 0.2, and none in three troilites analyzed. Schneiderhöhn (166, 167) found 1–10 ppm Au in 1 sample; Schneiderhöhn and Moritz (170) 1–5 ppm  $\lambda u$  in 1 sample.

Lead.—Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 30, 90, and 100 ppm Pb in 3 pyrrhotites, 60, 500, and 900 ppm Pb in 3 troilites from meteorites. Auger (7) found little variation in the lead content at different depths in the Noranda Mine, Quebec.

Manganese.—The quantitative data are summarized in Table 11. The apparent lack of isomorphous substitution of iron by manganese in pyrrhotite is ascribed by Hegemann (86) to the different types of bonding in FeS and MnS; alabandite has nearly ionic bonding. Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) iound no systematic variation of manganese content with temperature of iormation, composition of ore, or geological milieu.

Molybdenum.—Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 20, 30, and 40 ppm Mo in 3 pyrrhotites, 10, 15, and 40 ppm Mo in 3 troilites from meteorites. Sandell and Kuroda (164) found 6 ppm Mo in a troilite from a meteorite.

Nickel.—The quantitative data are summarized in Table 11; some uncertainty is caused by the common occurrence of intergrowths of pentlandite (153, p. 409–411). Hegemann (86, 87) believed that the upper limit of nickel content in isomorphous substitution may be about 1 percent nickel. Hegemann (87) stated that samples from high-temperature deposits tended to have higher nickel contents, but Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) found little effect of temperature of formation. They found a tendency for higher nickel content in pyrrhotite from zinc-rich ores compared with that from copper-rich ores. Auger (7) reported little change in nickel content with increasing depth at the Noranda Mine, Quebec, and Fryklund and Harner (59) reported erratic variations of nickel content along 1,500 feet of a single shoot in the Coeur d'Alene district, Idaho.

Platinum Metals .- Many determinations of the platinum metals in pyr-

#### TABLE 10

### SUMMARY OF REFERENCES ON PYRRHOTITE AND TROILITE

Under Type of Data, Q means quantitative analysis, S means semi-quantitative analysis, K means qualitative analysis. Under the elements listed, the symbol X means that the element was present, the symbol - means that the element was looked for, but not found.

•																	
Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	As	Co	Cu	Au	РЪ	Mn	Ni	Pt metals	Ag	Sn	Ti	v	Zn	Others	. !
Anderson (1953) Auger (1941) Bernard (1953) Bjørlykke and Jarp (1950) Cambel and Kupco (1953) Carstens (1941a) Carstens (1943) Edwards and Carlos (1954) Erametsa (1939) Fryklund and Harner (1955) Gavelin and Gabrielson (1947) Goldschmidt and Peters (1931) Goldschmidt and Peters (1932) Goldschmidt and Strock (1935) Hartley and Ramage (1897)	К S K Q K Q Q Q, S Q, K Q Q K Q K	8 14 4 8 19 1 7 11 10 100 3 . 1 10 2	x	x x x x x x	x x x	x	x x x x	x x x x x	x x x x x		x x x x x	x x x	x x x	x x -	x x x	Cd, Ge, In, Sb, all — Sb X Ba, Cr, Mo, Sr, all X Se X In — Ba X Bi X Ga — Se X In X	

Edwards and Carlos (1954) Erametsa (1930) F Fryklund and Harner (1955) Gavelin and Gabrielson (1947) Goldschmidt and Peters (1931) Goldschmidt and Peters (1932) Goldschmidt and Strock (1935) Hartley and Ramage (1897)	Q Q Q, S Q, K Q Q Q K	11 10 100 3 1 10 2	x x	X X	pert X	x x	x x x	x x x	x x x	x	X •	 pre la	Se X In – Ba X Bi X Ga – Se X In X	FLEISCHER	

						TAB	LE 10	)Cor	unue	d					·	
Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	As	Co	Cu	Au	Pb	Mn	Ni	Pt metals	Ag	Sn	Ti	v	Zn	Others
Hawley Lewis, and Wark (1951)	Q, K	37	-	x	X,		x	x	x	x	x	x	x	-	x	Be X, Cr X, Cd -, In -, Sb X, Bi -
Hawley and Rimsaite (1953)	Q	16								x						
Hawley, Rimsaite, and Lord (1953)	Q	6								X						
Hegemann (1943) Kinoshita and Muta (1950)	Q K	89 1		x	x				x		x					
Lunde (1927)	Q	1					v				X	v		v		Co X Sh X Bi X Mo X
Noddack and Noddack (1931)	Q	6	X								A					Wx, Re X, Cd -, Hg -
Duishi and Sandell (1955)	Q	2	X						l	}			{		1	In X
Rost (1939)	Q	43		x	x		1	x	x		x		1		x	Cr X
Sandell and Kuroda (1954)	Q	1	}	v	v	v			x	x		]				MO X
Schneiderhöhn (1929) Schneiderhöhn and Moritz	5, K 5, K	2		x	x	x			x	x						
(1931) Shaw (1952a, 1952b)	Q	1					v	v	v		v	x	x		x	In $-$ , Tl X Bi X Mg X Ca X, Si X,
Fakenaka (1954)	K	18	^		<b>^</b>					}						· Sb X, Al X
Tsuge and Terada (1950)	Q	1	ł	v			{		x						ł	Se X
Vogt (1893) Williams and Byers (1934)	Q	1							4							Se X
	1	1	1	1		•	•	• • • •	•					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

TABLE 10-Continued

1011

rhotite are given by Hawley, Lewis, and Wark (81), Hawley and Rimsain (82), and Hawley, Rimsaite, and Lord (83). They found in pyrrhotite from nickeliferous sulfides platinum in traces up to 56.9 (only 2 samples had more than 5 ppm), Pd 0.1 to 34.3 ppm. (only 4 samples had more than 5 ppm). Rh up to 0.58 ppm, Ru up to 2.12 ppm, Ir up to 1.03 ppm, and Os up to 1 ppm. The average of 33 samples from Falconbridge, Sudbury district, excluding one sample with very high content, was 0.72 ppm Pt and 0.27 ppm Pd The ratio Pt/Pd was highly variable, the extremes reported being 26:1 and 1:20. The variability was taken to indicate that probably the platinum metals are present largely as discrete minerals, and not in solid solution in the pyrrhotite.

#### TABLE 11

Summary of Quantitative Data on Minor Elements in Pyrrhotite  $\left( P \right)$  and Troilite  $\left( T \right)$ 

	Mari	Turni		N	o. of sar	nples i	n each	conce	ntratio	n rang	e		Tatal	c
Ele- ment	conen. ppm	of sample	1% or more	5,000- 9,999 ppm	1.000- 4,999 ppm	500- 999 ppm	200- 499 ppm	100- 199 ppm	50 99 ppm	10- 49 ppm	<10 ppm	Not found	No. of samples	tivity ppm
Co	8,500	P	-	4	35	18	57	21	11	18	1	87	252	10-15
Cu	7,000	Р	- 1	1	1	5	4	10	4	1			26	2-10
Cu	800	Т	-	-	-	1	1	1	—		-	-	3	?
Mn	3,000	P			21	18	32	15	1	10	4	14	115	10-100
Ni	7.47%	P	10	8	30	13	39	42	29	30	34	9	244	10-15
Se	63	P	)		-	-	-	-	3	11	6	-	20	1-5?
Se	132	T		-	-		-	1	1	-	-		2	1-5?
Ag	100	P	-	-	-	-	-	1	1	1	11	6	20	5-30
Ag	60	T	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	1	1	3	3

The analyses by Schneiderhöhn (166, 167) (1) Schneiderhöhn and Moritz (170) (2), and by Noddack and Noddack (136) (3 pyrrhotites and 3 troilites from meteorites) all fall within the ranges reported by Hawley and co-workers, except that Noddack and Noddack reported 20, 9, and 0 ppm Ru and 10, 6, and 0 ppm Os in the troilites.

Hawley and Rimsaite (82) analyzed 6 pyrrhotites from nonnickeliferous ores. These had much lower contents of platinum metals than the pyrrhotites from nickeliferous ores; the maximum contents found being Pt trace, Pd 0.056 ppm, and Rh 0.06 ppm.

*Rhenium.*—Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 0.02, 0.02, and 0.03 ppm Re in 3 pyrrhotites, 0.004, 0.01, and 0.04 ppm Re in 3 troilites from meteorites.

Selenium.—The quantitative data are summarized in Table 11.

Silver.—The few quantitative data are summarized in Table 11. Auger (7) gives data in terms of relative intensities for the variation of silver content with depth in two deposits at Noranda, Quebec. The silver content increased with depth in the lower deposit.

Thallium.—Shaw (179) reported 0.074 ppm T1 in a sample from Sudbury.

#### MINOF

Tin.—Noddack rhotites, 60, 500, Gabrielson (61) analyzed and occur did not contain cl

Titanium.—N the titanium com from approximations an admixture

Tungsten.—N 3 pyrrhotites. 4. Vanadium.—

V in 3 pyrrheti Auger (7) four Noranda Mine.

ppm, as read in Zinc.—Rost 0 (sensitivity 5 able. Hegeman ples analyzed. 7 showed less zim roughly constant

The type of and the quant manganese, and and Tanaka of the arsen glaucodot. C a few of the Determined ack (136 follows:

1012

### SCHER

Vark (81), Hawley and Rimsain ). They found in pyrrhotite from to 56.9 (only 2 samples had more samples had more than 5 ppm up to 1.03 ppm, and Os up to 1 alconbridge, Sudbury district, exvas 0.72 ppm Pt and 0.27 ppm Pg extremes reported being 26:1 and that probably the platinum metals and not in solid solution in the

R ELEMENTS IN PYRRHOTITE (P) (T)

nce	entratio	on ran	ge		1	1
10- 29 21	50- 99 ppm	10- 49 ppm	<10 ppm	Not found	Total No. of samples	Sensi- tivity ppm
1 0 1 5 2 	11 4 	18     1     1     1     1     30     11     1     1     1	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ - \\ 4 \\ 34 \\ 6 \\ - \\ 11 \\ 1 \end{array} $	87  14 9  6 1	252 26 3 115 244 20 2 20 3	10-15 2-10 ? 10-100 10-15 1-5? 1-5? 5-30 ?

. 167) (1) Schneiderhöhn and oddack (136) (3 pyrrhotites and e ranges reported by Hawley and dack reported 20, 9, and 0 ppm

pyrrhotites from nonnickeliferous tinum metals than the pyrrhotites its found being Pt trace, Pd 0.056

) reported 0.02, 0.02, and 0.03 0.04 ppm Re in 3 troilites from

nmarized in Table 11.

immarized in Table 11. Auger ties for the variation of silver da, Quebec. The silver content

opm T1 in a sample from Sud-

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

1013

*Tin.*—Noddack and Noddack (136) found 80, 5, and 0 ppm Sn in 3 pyrhotites, 60, 500, and 900 ppm in 3 troilites from meteorites. Gavelin and habrielson (61) found that tin was present in 13.5 percent of the pyrrhotites analyzed and occurred particularly in pyrrhotite (and pyrite) from ores that had not contain chalcopyrite.

*Titanium.*—No quantitative data are available. Auger (7) reported that the titanium content of pyrrhotite at Noranad, Quebec, increased with depth from approximately 0.1 to 0.5 percent. Presumably the titanium is present as an admixture.

*Tungsten.*—Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 5, 2, and 0 ppm W in 3 pyrrhotites, 4, 0, and 0 ppm W in 3 troilites from meteorites.

Vanadium.—Noddack and Noddack (136) reported 100, 20, and 0 ppm V in 3 pyrrhotites, 150, 30, and 0 ppm V in 3 troilites from meteorites. Auger (7) found that the vanadium content increased with depth at the Noranda Mine, Quebec, the ranges reported being approximately 70 to 400 ppm, as read from his curve.

Zinc.—Rost (161) found 1.5% Zn in one sample, a trace in another, and 0 (sensitivity 500 ppm) in 13 samples. No other quantitative data are available. Hegemann (86) states that zinc was found in very few of the 110 samples analyzed, the maximum amount being 500 ppm, and that these generally showed less zinc after purification. Auger (7) found the zinc content to be roughly constant with depth at about 0.1% at Noranda, Quebec.

#### Arsenopyrite

The type of data available on arsenopyrite are summarized in Table 12, and the quantitative determinations are summarized in Table 13 for cobalt, manganese, and nickel, mainly from the data of Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) and Tanaka (192). Cobalt is present in appreciable percentages in most of the arsenopyrites analyzed and there is probably a complete series to glaucodot, CoAsS.<sup>3</sup> The content of cobalt exceeds that of nickel in all but a few of the analyses.

Determinations of other elements are few, mainly by Noddack and Noddack (136) (N) and by Rost (161) (R), each on one sample. They were as follows:

Copper—200 ppm (R), very high (N). Germanium—30 ppm (105). Gold—8 ppm (N). 0.5 ppm (65). Lead—50 ppm (N), much (R). Molybdenum—60 ppm (N). Platinum—0.4 ppm (N). Rhenium—0.01 ppm (N). Selenium—42, 47, and 57 ppm (52). Silver—90 ppm (N), 25 ppm (R), 10 ppm (65). Vanadium—300 ppm (N); Zinc—400 ppm (R).

<sup>a</sup> Dana's System of Mineralogy, 7th Ed., vol. 1, p. 319-324, 1944.

### TABLE 12

### SUMMARY OF REFERENCES ON ARSENOPYRITE

Under Type of Data, Q means quantitative analysis, S means semi-quantitative analysis, K means qualitative analysis. Under the elements listed, the symbol X means that the element was present, the symbol — means that the element was looked for, but not found.

Reference	Type of data	No. of samples	Sb	Bi	Ca	Co	Cu	Ge	In	РЬ	Mn	Ni	Ag	Sn	Zn	Others
Anderson (1953) Bernard (1953) Bernard (1954) Bernard Lizupov, and	K K K	2 4 2 4	x	x	x	x	x x	-	x	x x	x		х	x	x	Ga —
Shcherbina (1941) Borovik and Prokopenko	ĸ	4						-	x							
(1938) Brewer and Baker (1936) Eberhard (1910) Edwards and Carlos (1954) Erametsa (1934)	K K Q Q	1 4 3 6				x			- x?		x	x				Sc X?, Y X Se X
Gavelin and Gabrielson (1947) Goldschmidt and Peters		1											x			Au X, Pt metals –
Goldschmidt and Peters (1933) Haberlandt and Schiener	Q S	3 1			ł	x						x				
(1951) Hoehne (1934) Kimura, Nagashima, et al.	Q Q	1 2	_					x								
(1952) Kinoshita and Muta (1950) Kutina (1949) Kutina (1953c) Noddack and Noddack	K K Q	2 1 2 1	x x -	x -		x x	X X X X K			X X X X K	x	x	X X X X	x -	X X X	Au X, Te – Ti X, Ga X, Hg X, Ru X? Au X, V X, Mo X, Pt X, Re X, Hg –, W –, Pd –
(1931) Prokopenko (1941c) Rost (1939) Tanaka (1943) Tassel (1954) Williams and Byets (1934)	K Q Q S U	? 1 10 4 1				$\frac{1}{x}$	X		x	x	- X	X X X	X		х	Au - N
antine in 19 a fear 10 mar ann ann ann an 18 an 1866 ann anns an anns anns anns anns anns	Conjector March	ut an an air	د دور سر رو	arighters <del>a</del> Pa	مىقىتىقىرىكەرىرىنى	ويترين ويترين			gener stans	Sector Distances	escenter and and	and and and and	an a state a state of the state	ngistan dini di		and a state of the second s
galena galena galena the in the d Ande than tende	in the sphale of tin	that ca	also co	amour! was no	galena :	N	Å0 20	ment	Ele-			stances.	Oited		ore miner	n addition pualitative bu Knowl among the empirical empirical

1014

MICHAEL FLEISCHER

galena: « amourus also com-manium that cab and tim of tin galena galena galena coite the indi the dat Anderso than av

a start and the start of the st

NHO NHO

an An an An

nĝ<mark>r</mark>

Ele-ment

LEISCHER

Au N, Pt metals

đ

2

NX I

Pt Pd

ХX

Ŕ

s>

XX

Ti. Au

T

 $^{1}$ X

Se Ju

X I

XI

XXX

1 X

×

×

Au X, Te

×

1

×

XXX

XXXX

×

×

XXXXX

1

### MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS 1015

In addition, antimony, bismuth, cadmium, indium, and tin have been reported qualitatively (Table 12).

### DISTRIBUTION OF ELEMENTS AMONG CO-EXISTING MINERALS

Knowledge of the manner in which the minor elements are distributed among the co-existing mineral phases of an ore deposit is extremely important in extractive metallurgy as well as theoretically, and there is a good deal of empirical information available from smelting practice. Comparatively few investigators have made painstaking separations and analyses of co-existing ore minerals; these are summarized below.

### Galena-Sphalerite

Oftedal (138) analyzed both galena and sphalerite from 40 localities, although the minerals were not separated from the same sample in many instances. He found that lead, antimony, and bismuth occurred only in the

TABLE 13	
----------	--

SUMMARY OF QUANTITATIVE DATA ON MINOR ELEMENTS IN ARSENOPY	SUMMARY OF	QUANTITATIVE	DATA (	ON MINOR	ELEMENTS	IN	ARSENOPYRITI
--	------------	--------------	--------	----------	----------	----	--------------

	Mox		N	o. of sam	ples in	each ce	oncenti	ration	range			Total	Sanci
Ele- ment	ppm	1% or more	5,000 9,999 ppm	1,000- 4,999 ppm	500– 999 ppm	200 499 ppm	100– 199 ppm	50- 99 ppm	10- 49 ppm	<10 ppm	Not found	No. of samples	tivity ppm
Co	3.36%	12	4	17	4	4	2		4		7	54	10-22
Ni	3,000	_	_	9	4	17	4	3 1	6	5	8	40 54	10-100

galena; silver was commonly present in galena and only rarely found in small amounts in sphalerite free from galena inclusions; thallium, present in galena, was not found in pure sphalerites, but was present in "schalenblende" that also contained lead and arsenic. Oftedal found that cobalt, gallium, germanium, indium, mercury, nickel, and zinc occurred only in the sphalerite and that cadmium was found in only two samples of zinc-free galena. Arsenic and tin were found in both minerals; the arsenic content was much higher in the galena; Tornquist (196) however, reported higher arsenic contents in sphalerite than in galena for samples from five localities. The distribution of tin was somewhat erratic, but generally the content was higher in the galena. Oftedal concluded that in deposits containing both minerals, tin is preferentially taken up by sphalerite in very low-temperature deposits and by galena at higher temperatures.

Oftedal's conclusions are in general agreement with the data reported on the individual minerals. McLellan (121) stated, however, without giving the data, that in lead-zinc ores, indium is present mainly in the galena. Anderson (5) found that galena might be either richer or poorer in indium than associated sphalerite; in both minerals, the concentration of indium tended to be greater in samples from high temperature deposits.

1 × 1 1 XXXXX × × XX IXX 1 ×I L L × XI 4 S  $\alpha \alpha$  $\alpha$ MAMO MOONO inoshita and Muta (1950) utina (1949) Hoehne (1934) Kimura, Nagashima, et al. Fassel (1954) Williams and Byers (1934) (1933) Haberlandt and Schiener (1932) Goldschmidt and Peters Goldschmidt and Peters Kutina (1953c) Noddack and Noddack rokopenko (1941c) anaka (1943) (1939)(1951)(1952)**Cutina** 

Zvyagintzev and Fillipov (215) reported that galena, sphalerite, and pyrite separated from the same sample contained 5, 1.5, and 0.5 ppm Pt, respectively.

For data on selenium, see below under pyrite-chalcopyrite. Compare also the sections above on galena and sphalerite.

### Pyrite-Pyrrhotite

The distribution of cobalt and nickel between pyrite and pyrrhotite in the same hand specimens was studied by Rost (161) on 12 samples and by Hegemann (87) on 27 samples. Although the contents of cobalt and nickel and the Co:Ni ratios were highly variable from sample to sample, both found that cobalt tends to concentrate in pyrite, and nickel in pyrrhotite. Only in a few samples did the pyrite contain more nickel or less cobalt than the pyrrhotite. A few chemical analyses by Bjørlykke and Jarp (18) give results in accord with these. Gavelin and Gabrielson (61) confirmed these conclusions in a study of Swedish ores, but their analyses showed, in general, lower ratios of Co(pyrite)/Co(pyrite) and Ni(pyrite)/Ni(pyrite). They also extended the data to include arsenopyrite and chalcopyrite. They found the order of decreasing cobalt content to be arsenopyrite-pyritepyrrhotite-chalcopyrite, of decreasing nickel content to be arsenopyritepyrrhotite-pyrite-chalcopyrite. Their data for manganese show about equal amounts in pyrite and pyrrhotite and slightly smaller amounts in arsenopyrite and chalcopyrite.

Data on selenium and the platinum metals are given below under Pyrite-Chalcopyrite; compare also the sections above on pyrite and pyrrhotite.

#### Pyrite-Chalcopyrite and Associated Minerals

The distribution of cobalt, nickel, and manganese between pyrite and chalcopyrite has been discussed above under Pyrite-Pyrrhotite. Data are also available on the platinum metals and on selenium.

Platinum Metals .--- Hawley and co-workers (Hawley, Lewis, and Wark, 81; Hawley and Rimsaite, 82; Hawley, Rimsaite, and Lord, 83) have determined the content of platinum metals in pyrite, chalcopyrite, pyrrhotite, pentlandite, and in mixed arsenides (maucherite, gersdorffite, and niccolite) from various mines, but it is not clear whether any of the analyses were made on minerals separated from the same ore sample. Their results show considerable variation for a single mineral from a single mine, and the following generalizations by me are very tentative. Chalcopyrite seems to have generally the highest concentration of total platinum metals. For palladium, the order of decreasing content may be arsenides, chalcopyrite, pyrrhotite, pentlandite, pyrite; for platinum, it may be pentlandite, chalcopyrite, pyrrhotite, pyrite, arsenides; the contents in pyrite are very much lower than those of the other minerals listed. Zvyagintzev and Filippov (215) determined platinum in minerals from a single deposit and found galena 5, sphalerite 1.5, pyrite 0.5 ppm respectively.

Selenium.-The data of Bergenfelt (12) on ores from northern Sweden indicate that for minerals from the same mines the order of decreasing selenium

### MINOR 1:

content is galena, chai the selenium content others. Analyses by from Norwegian mine the chalcopyrite. De samples show conside but give in general a mal), pyrrhotite. spi in the much lower se

> I hope that this ~ knowledge and that of the unsolved prob on dubious material pure material of uni need now is for car paragenetic history. ing work of Kulleru

I have tried to list especially from the Ru of omissions or corre through abstracts. 1. Abramov, F. I. a manium, indium. (in Russian); th Union Sci. Rese 2. Ahlfeld, Friedrich liviens: Neues Ahrens, Louis. 1 Geochim. et Cos -, 1953. The Geochim. et Co S 5. Anderson, J. Cosmochim. Act Antipov. J., 18 6.\* 384-387; abs. 1 7. Auger, P. E., 1 Canadian gold 8. Bannister, F. A. v. 25, p. 609-6 9. Bartlett, F. L., Eng. Mining J 10. Bastin, E. S., 1 11. Beck, G., 1037. Naturforsch. 12. Bergenfelt. Sve Fören. Förh., 13. Bernard, J. H.

chemical and Československ

\_\_\_, 1954, Ge 14. . akad, ved, Re

all shifted a

SCHER

d that galena, sphalerite, and pyrite i, 1.5, and 0.5 ppm Pt, respectively pyrite-chalcopyrite. Compare also

and the state of the second

stite

tween pyrite and pyrrhotite in the 161) on 12 samples and by Hegecontents of cobalt and nickel and m sample to sample, both found nd nickel in pyrrhotite. Only in e nickel or less cobalt than the jorlykke and Jarp (18) give re-Gabrielson (61) confirmed these their analyses showed, in general, and Ni(pyrrhotite)/Ni(pyrite). nopyrite and chalcopyrite. They stent to be arsenopyrite-pyriteel content to be arsenopyriteor manganese show about equal smaller amounts in arsenopyrite

ls are given below under Pyriteve on pyrite and pyrrhotite.

## ociated Minerals

manganese between pyrite and r Pyrite-Pyrrhotite. Data are selenium.

s (Hawley, Lewis, and Wark, isaite, and Lord, 83) have depyrite, chalcopyrite, pyrrhotite, ite. gersdorffite, and niccolite) any of the analyses were made ple. Their results show consingle mine, and the following alcopyrite seems to have genm metals. For palladium, the chalcopyrite, pyrrhotite, pentidite, chalcopyrite, pyrrhotite, much lower than those of the v (215) determined platinum ilena 5, sphalerite 1.5, pyrite

ores from northern Sweden order of decreasing selenium

#### 1017 MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

content is galena, chalcopyrite, arsenopyrite, sphalerite, pyrite, and pyrrhotite, the selenium content of the last three being very much lower than that of the others. Analyses by Carstens (35) of pyrite and chalcopyrite concentrates from Norwegian mines also show much higher concentrations of selenium in the chalcopyrite. Determinations by Edwards and Carlos (52) on Australian samples show considerable variation of the selenium content of the minerals, but give in general the order chalcopyrite, arsenopyrite, pyrite (hydrothermal), pyrrhotite, sphalerite, galena, thus differing from Bergenfelt's order in the much lower selenium content in galena.

#### CONCLUDING REMARKS

I hope that this summary has made evident some of the large gaps in our knowledge and that it will encourage research aimed at answering some of the unsolved problems. It should be emphasized that qualitative analyses on dubious material are not of much use, nor are quantitative analyses of pure material of unknown geological history very enlightening. The great need now is for careful analyses of material of known purity and known paragenetic history, supplemented by equilibrium studies such as the pioneering work of Kullerud (110).

#### REFERENCES

I have tried to list all pertinent references, but I know that some have been missed, especially from the Russian and Japanese literature. I should greatly appreciate learning omissions or corrections. References marked with an asterisk were not seen except through abstracts.

- 1. Abramov, F. I., and Rusanov, A. K., 1938. Spectroscopic study of sphalerites for germanium, indium, cadmium, and thallium : Problemy Soviet Geol., v. 8, no. 5, p. 65-73 (in Russian); this is a summary of a more detailed paper, not seen, in Trans. All-Union Sci. Research Inst. Econ. Mineralogy, no. 141, p. 5-44, 1939.
- 2. Ahlfeld, Friedrich, and Moritz, H., 1933, Beitrag zur Kentniss der Sulfostannate Boliviens: Neues Jahrb. Mineral., Geol., Beil-Bd., v. 66A, p. 179-212.
- 3. Ahrens, Louis, 1952, The use of ionization potentials. I. Ionic radii of the elements: Geochim. et Cosmochim. Acta, v. 2, p. 155-169.
- -, 1953, The use of ionization potentials. II. Anion affinity and geochemistry: Geochim. et Cosmochim. Acta, v. 3, p. 1-29.
- 5. Anderson, J. S., 1953, Observations on the geochemistry of indium: Geochim. et
- 6.\* Antipov, J., 1995, Observations on the geochemistry of minimum determine et Cosmochim. Acta, v. 4, p. 225-240.
  6.\* Antipov, J., 1896, Thallium in iron pyrites: Jour. Russian Phys. Chem. Soc., v. 1, p. 384-387; abs. in Ber. deut. Chem. Ges. 29, ref. 1042, 1896.
  7. Auger, P. E., 1941, Zoning and district variations of the minor elements in pyrite of
- Canadian gold deposits: ECON. GEOL., v. 36, p. 401-423. 8. Bannister, F. A., 1940, Bravoite from Mill Close mine, Derbyshire: Mineralog. Mag.,
- v. 25, p. 609-614.
- 9. Bartlett, F. L., 1889, Some notes on the rarer elements found in Leadville sulphurets : Eng. Mining Jour., v. 48, p. 342.
- 10. Bastin, E. S., 1950, Interpretation of ore textures: Geol. Soc. Am. Mem., v. 45, p. 1-101. 11. Beck, G., 1937, Der Nachweis seltener Elemente in den Amsteger und Walliser Erzen:
- Naturforsch. Ges. Bern, Mitt., p. V-VI (pub. 1938). 12. Bergenfelt, Sven, 1953, Om förekomsten av selen i Skelleftefaltets sulfidmalmer: Geol.
- Fören, Förh., v. 75, p. 327-359. 13. Bernard, J. H., 1953, Geochemie rejského a turkaňského pásma v Kutné Hoře (Geochemical and paragenetical studies in the Rejsy and Turkank zones at Kutna Nora): Československé akad. věd, Rozpravy, Ročnik 63, sešit 2, 59 pp. (in English 51-59).
- -, 1954, Geochemical development of the ore vein at Sv. Petr. in the Krkonose: Cesk. akad. ved, Rozpravy, v. 64, no. 6, p. 1-17 (Czech with English summary). 14. -

and Padera, K., 1954, Bravoit aus dem Kladno-Rakonitzer Steinkohlenbecken 15.

- Geologie, v. 3, p. 155-169.
  16. Biewend, R., 1902, Uber den Cadmiumgehalt der Zinkerze, insbesondere der oberschlesis-chen, das Verhalten cadmium-haltiger Zinkerze und Zinklegierung vor dem Lotrohre. und die Nachweisung des Cadmium und des Zinks auf trocknem Wege: Berg- u Huttenmann. Zeitung, v. 61, p. 401-403, 413-416, 425-428.
- 17. Bjørlykke, Harald, 1945, Innholdet av Kobolt i svavelkis fra norske nikkelmalmer: Norsk Geol. Tids., v. 25, p. 11-15 (English summary).
- 18. -, and Jarp. Sverre, 1950, The content of cobalt in some Norwegian sulfide deposits Norsk Geol. Tids., v. 28, p. 151-156.
- 19. Boisbaudran, Lecoq de, 1875, Caractères chimiques et spectroscopiques d'un nouveau metal, le Gallium, decouvert dans un blende de Pierrefitte, vallee d'Argeles, Pyrenees; Compt. rend., v. 81, p. 493-495.
- Isro, Extraction du gallium de ses minerais: Compt. rend., v. 82, p. 1098-1099.
   Borovik, S. A., Lizunov, N. V., and Shcherbina, V. V., 1941, Gallium in the minerals and ores of the Soviet Union: Acad. Sci. U. R. S. S., Bull., Ser. Geol., no. 3, p. 150-158.
- 22 and Prokopenko, N. M., 1938, Germanium in some sulfide ores in U. S. S. R.: Acad. sci. U. R. S. S., Bull., Ser. geol., p. 341-347 (English summary). —, and Prokopenko, N. M., 1939, New data on the distribution of indium in Kazak-
- 23. hstan: Acad. Sci. U. R. S. S., Compt. rend., v. 24, p. 925-928.
- 24. , and Prokopenko, N. M., 1941, Distribution of indium in Ural ore deposits: Acad. Sci. U. R. S. S., Compt. rend., v. 31, p. 22-23.
- 25. . -, and Sosedko, A. F., 1937, Gallium in mineral samples collected by the expedition from the Lomonosov Institute of the Academy of Sciences of the U.S.S.R.: Acad.
- Sci. U. R. S. S., Compt. rend., v. 14, p. 31-34. , Vlodavets, N. I., and Prokopenko, N. M., 1938, Occurrences of indium in lead-zinc deposits of Middle Asia: Acad. Sci. U. R. S. S., Bull., Classe sci. Math. Nat., Sér. 26. Géol., p. 335-340 (English summary). 27. Bose, S. N., and Dutta, R. K., 1950, Germanium in sphalerite from Nepal: Jour. Sci.
- Ind. Research (India), v. 9, p. 52-53.
- 28. Brewer, F. M., and Baker, Enid, 1936, Arc spectrographic determination of indium in minerals, and the association of indium with tin and silver: Chem. Soc. (London), Jour., p. 1286-1290.
- 29. Cox, J. D., and Morris, D. F. C., 1955, The occurrence of germanium in blende: Geochim. et Cosmochim. Acta, in press.
- 30. Buchanan, G. H., 1917, The occurrence of germanium in Missouri and Wisconsin blendes: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 9, p. 661-663. 31. Cambel, Bohuslav and Kupčo, Gejza, 1953, Geochemické, genetické a geologicke pomery
- malokarpatskych rudných ložisk (The geochemical, genetic, and geological relationships of ore deposits of the Little Carpathians) : Geol. Sbornik, Slovensk akad, vied a umeni,
- v. 3, no. 3-4, p. 135-192 (German summary). 32. Cambi, L., and Malatesta, L., 1936, Germanio, gallio, indio nella blende di Sardegna: R. Inst. Lombardo Sci. lettr., rend., v. 69, p. 368-374.
- 33. del Campo, Angel, 1914. Estudio spectrografico de las blendes españolas: Soc. española fis. quim., Anal., v. 12, p. 80-96.

34.\* Canneri, G., and Cozzi, D., 1954, The determination of rare metals in sphalerite by spectrographic and polarographic methods: Chimica e industria (Milan) v. 36, p. 354-357; Chem. Abs. 48, p. 13570-13571, 1954.

35. Carstens, C. W., 1941a, Om geokjemiske undersøkelser av malmer: Norsk Geol. Tids., v. 21, p. 213-221.

. 1941b. Zur Geochemie einiger norwegischen Kiesvorkomman: Kgl. Norsk Videnskabs 36. Selskabs, Forh., v. 14, p. 36-39.

, 1941c, Über sedimentäre Schwefelkiesvorkommen : Kgl. Norsk Videnskabs. Selskabs. 37. Forh., v. 14, p. 120-122.

-, 1942a, Ein neuer Beitrag zur geochemischen charakteristik norwegischer Schwefel-38. kieserze: Kgl. Norske Videnskabs. Selskabs, Forh., v. 15, p. 1-4.

39. 1942b, Über kupferhaltige Kiesvorkommen des Leksdaltypus. Kgl. Norske Videnskabs. Selskabs, Forh., v. 15, p. 161-164.

40. -, 1942c, Über den Co-Ni-Gehalt norwegischer Schwefelkies-vorkommen: Kgl. Norske Videnskabs. Selskabs, Forh., v. 15, p. 165-168.

- 1943, Über den Vanadiumgehalt norwegischer sedimentärer Eisenoxyd-und Eisen-41. sulfiderze: Kgl. Norske Videnskabs, Selskabs, Forh., v. 16, p. 1-4.
- , 1945, Kupferkicskrystalle von norwegischen Schwefekies-vorkommen: Kgl. Norske 42. Videnskabs. Selskabs, Forh., v. 18, p. 61-63.

MIN

an ing

13. Claussen, G. E.

44. Cornwall, H. I 15.\* Cremascoli. zinc ores:

1953.

46. Doelter, C.

48. Earley, J.

19. Eberhard.

50.

52.

47. Dutta, R. K

from Neral

Akad. Wis

-, 191

Akad. Wis 51. Edwards. A. Australasia

-, and C

über seine

p. 568-5

p. 1-9

elemente 57. Frueh.

Geochim 58. Fryklund

Mine. V

fyndert

from practi

No.

-31

Main

Math

Nach

Nac

Math

Na

N19-

pe.

S.

Εs

69. Grat

70. de G

71. Grip

72. Guat

73. Hab

62. Goldsata

63.

64

65.

66.

67.

68.

summ

v. 50

60. Gabriels

61. Gavelin

51, no. 54. Evrard. P

Australas

53. Erämetsä.

55. Fleischer

56. Frondel.

59.

35, p. 3.

Am. Miner:

ladno-Rakonitzer Steinkohlenbecken:

Contraction Name of Contraction of Contraction

- ikerze, insbesondere der oberschlesisnd Zinklegierung vor dem Lotrohre aks auf trocknem Wege: Berg- u. lkis fra norske nikkelmalmer: Norsk
- in some Norwegian sulfide deposits :
- s et spectroscopiques d'un nouveau errefitte, vallee d'Argeles, Pyrenees:
- ompt. rend., v. 82, p. 1098-1099. V., 1941, Gallium in the minerals
- S., Bull., Ser. Geol., no. 3, p. 150-
- ne sulfide ores in U. S. S. R.: Acad. lish summary).
- ie distribution of indium in Kazakp. 925-928. indium in Ural ore deposits: Acad.
- samples collected by the expedition Sciences of the U. S. S. R.: Acad.
- 38, Occurrences of indium in lead-., Bull., Classe sci. Math. Nat., Sér.
- sphalerite from Nepal: Jour. Sci.
- graphic determination of indium in silver: Chem. Soc. (London), Jour.,
- courrence of germanium in blende:
- in Missouri and Wisconsin blendes:
- ké, genetické a geologicke pomery enetic. and geological relationships rnik, Slovensk akad. vied a umeni,
- ndio nella blende di Sardegna: R.
- blendes españolas: Soc. española
- of rare metals in sphalerite by industria (Milan) v. 36, p. 354-
- av malmer: Norsk Geol. Tids.,
- komman: Kgl. Norsk Videnskabs
- Kgi. Norsk Videnskabs. Selskabs,
- kteristik norwegischer Schwefel-5. p. 1-4.
- ksdaltypus. Kgl. Norske Viden-
- felkies-vorkommen: Kgl. Norske
- mentärer Eisenoxyd-und Eisen-16, p. 1-4.
- Fekies-vorkommen: Kgl. Norske

- 43. Claussen, G. E., 1934, Spectroscopic analysis of certain galenas, sphalerites, and pyrites: Am. Mineral., v. 19, p. 221-224.
- 14. Cornwall, H. B., 1880, Gallium in American blendes: Am. Chem. Jour., v. 2, p. 44-45. 15. Cremascoli, Franco, 1950, Germanium and its spectrographic determination in Italian
- zinc ores: Ind. Mineraria (Milan), v. 1, p. 83-86; through Chem. Abs., v. 47, p. 4256b, 1953.
- 46. Doelter, C., and Leitmeier, H., 1926, Handbuch der Mineralchemie, v. 4, Pt. 1.
- 17. Dutta, R. K., and Bose, S. N., 1950, Extraction of germanium from sphalerite collected from Nepal. I. II.: Jour. Sci. Ind. Research (India), v. 9B, p. 251-252, 271-272.
- 48. Earley, J. W., 1950, Description and synthesis of the selenide minerals: Am. Mineral., v. 35, p. 337-364.
- 49. Eberhard, G., 1908, Über die weite Verbreitung des Skandium auf der Erde: Kgl. Preuss. Akad. Wiss., Sitzber., p. 851-868.
- -, 1910, Über die weite Verbreitung des Skandium auf der Erde II.: Kgl. Preuss. 50. Akad. Wiss., Sitzber., p. 404-426. 51. Edwards, A. B., 1954, Textures of the ore minerals and their significance, 2nd Ed.:
- Australasian Inst. Mining Met., Melbourne, p. 1-242.
- -, and Carlos, G. C., 1954, The selenium content of some Australian sulfide deposits: Australasian Inst. Mining and Metallurgy, Proc., no. 172, p. 31-64.
- 53. Erämetsä, Olavi, 1939, Über die Verbreitung des Indiums in finnischen Mineralen und über seine Trennung von anderen Metallen: Acad. Sci. Fennicae, Ann., Ser. A, Tom 51, no. 1, p. 1-92.
- 54. Evrard, Pierre, 1945, Minor elements in sphalerites from Belgium: Econ. Geol., v. 40, p. 568-574
- 55. Fleischer, Michael, 1953, Some problems of chemical mineralogy: Am. Mineral., v. 38, p. 149-162.
- Frondel, Clifford, Newhouse, W. H., and Jarrell, R. F., 1942, Spatial distribution of minor elements in single-crystals: Am. Mineral., v. 27, p. 726-745.
- Frueh, A. J., Jr., 1954, The use of zone theory in problems of sulphide mineralogy: Geochim. et. Cosmochim. Acta, v. 6, p. 79-89.
   Fryklund, V. C., Jr., and Fletcher, J. D., 1955, Geochemistry of sphalerite from the Star
- Mine, Coeur d'Alene district, Idaho: Econ. GEOL., in press.
- 59. -, and Harner, R. S., 1955, Comments on minor elements in pyrrhotite: Econ. GEoL., v. 50, p. 339-344
- 60. Gabrielson, Olof, 1945, Studier över elementfordelningen i zinkbländen från Svenska fyndorter-Sver. Geol. Undersökn., Ser. C, no. 468, Årsbok 39, no. 1, p. 1-52 (English summary).
- 61. Gavelin, S., and Gabrielson, O., 1947, Spectrochemical investigation of sulfide minerals from ores of the Skellefte district. The significance of minor constituents for certain practical and theoretical problems of economic geology: Sver. Geol. Undersökn., Ser. C, No. 491, Årsbok 41, No. 10, p. 1-45.
- 62. Goldschmidt, V. M., 1954, Geochemistry: Oxford Univ. Press, 730 p.
- -, and Hefter, O., 1933, Zur Geochemie des Selens: Ges. Wiss. Göttingen, Nachr., 63. Math.-Phys. Klasse, p. 245-252.
- , and Peters, Cl., 1931, Zur Geochemie des Galliums: Ges. Wiss. Göttingen, Nachr., 64. Math.-Phys. Klasse, p. 165-183. ----, and Peters, Cl., 1932, Zur Geochemie der Edelmetalle: Ges. Wiss. Göttingen,
- 65.
- Nachr., Math.-Phys. Klasse, p. 377-401. —, and Peters, Cl., 1933, Zur Geochemie des Germaniums: Ges. Wiss. Göttingen, 66. -Nachr., Math.-Phys. Klasse, p. 141-166.
- -, and Peters, Cl., 1934, Zur Geochemie des Arsens: Ges. Wiss. Göttingen, Nachr., 67.
- Math.-Phys. Klasse, Fachgr. IV, v. 1, p. 11-22. —, and Strock, L. W., 1935, Zur Geochemie des Selens II: Ges. Wiss. Göttingen, Nachr., Math.-Phys. Klasse, Fachgr. IV, v. 1, p. 123-142. 68. -
- Graton, L. C., and Harcourt, G. A., 1935, Spectrographic evidence on origin of ores of Mississippi Valley type: ECON. GEOL., v. 30, p. 800-824.
- 70. de Gramont, A., 1895, Analyse spectrale directe des minéraux : Soc. mineral. franc., Bull., v. 18, p. 171-173.
- 71. Grip, Erland, 1948, The occurrence of mercury in Boliden and some other sulphide deposits in northern Sweden: Sver. Geol. Undersökn., Ser. C, No. 499, Årsbok 42, No. 8, 12 pp.
- Guardiola, Ricardo, 1922, La composicion de las blendas de Cartagena: Inst. Geol. Min. España, Bol., v. 43, p. 159-195.
- 73. Haberlandt, Herbert, 1947, Die Bedeutung der Spurenelemente in der geochemischen Forschung: Monatsh., v. 22, p. 293-323.

「「「 あっきったのである」

A Carlo and a second and

Contraction of the local division of the loc

1020

-, 1948, Uber die gesetzmassige Differentiation von Spurenelementen in Miner-74. Tschermaks Mineral. Petrog. Mitt., v. 1, p. 134-149.

- -, 1952, Die systematische Grundlage und die Fortschritte in der Erforschung 75. Spurenelemente als geochemische Leitelemente in Mineralien und Erzen: Freis Mineral., v. 31, p. 76-89.
- -, and Schiener, Alfred, 1951, Die Mineral- und Elementvergesellschaftung 76. Zentralgneisgebietes von Badgastein (Hohen Tauern): Tschermaks Mineral, Pro-Mitt., v. 2, p. 292-354.
- -, and Schroll, Erich, 1954, Über den Wert oder Unwert der Spurenelement-Ana fur die Lagerstättenforschung, Minerogenese, und Petrogenese: Tschermaks Mine-Petrog. Mitt., v. 5, p. 110-122.
- 78. Hartley, W. N., and Ramage, H., 1897, The wide dissemination of some of the raelements and the mode of their association in common ores and minerals: Jour. Ch. Soc. (London), v. 71, p. 533-547.

79. Hassler, E. L., and Roys, H. C., 1934, Rare elements in Oklahoma sphalerite: (); Acad. Sci. Proc., v. 14, p. 67-68.

80. Hawley, J. E., 1952, Spectrographic studies of pyrite in some Eastern Canadian g mines: Econ. GEOL., v. 47, p. 260-304.

- -, Lewis, C. L., and Wark, W. J., 1951, Spectrographic study of platinum a-81. palladium in common sulphides and arsenides of the Sudbury district, Ontario: Eco-GEOL., v. 46, p. 149-162.
- 82. -, and Rimsaite, Y., 1953, Platinum metals in some Canadian uranium and sulfide ore-Am. Mineralogist, v. 38, p. 463-475. —, Rimsaite, Y., and Lord, T. V., 1953, Lead bead method of spectrographic analysis

83. of platinum metals, gold, silver, and bismuth in sulfide and uranium ores: Canadia-Mining Met. Bull., Trans., v. 56, p. 19-26.

84. Hayase, Kitaro, and Otsuka, Ryohei, 1953, Study on the properties of pyrite (III). Geol

Soc. Japan Jour., v. 59, p. 469-477. 85. Hegemann, Friedrich, 1939, Die geochemischen und kristallchemischen Beziehungen vor Mangan zu Pyrit: Metallwirtschaft, v. 18, p. 705-707.

86. , 1941, Die isomorphen Beziehungen von Mn, Zn, Co, Ni, und Cu zu Pyrit und Magnetkies: Zeitschr. Krist, v. 103, p. 168-177.

87. -, 1943, Die geochemische Bedeutung von Kobalt und Nickel im Pyrit: Zeitscht angew. Mineral., v. 4, p. 122-239. ----, 1949, Die Herkunft des Mo, V, As, und Cr im Wüfenit der alpinen Blei-Zinklager

88. statten: Heidelberger Beitr. Mineral. Petrog., v. 1, p. 690-715. ----, and Kostyra, H., 1954, Bestimmung der Spurenelemente in Zinkblende: Metall, v

89. 8, p. 768-772.

90. -, and Leybold, Chr., 1953, Eine spektrochemische Analysenmethode zur schnellen quantitativen Bestimmung der Spurenelemente im Bleiglanz: Zeitschr. für Erzbergbau u. Metallhüttenwesen, v. 6, 175–180.

91. , and Leybold, Chr., 1954, Eine Methode zur quantitativen spektrochemischen Analyse von Pyrit: Zeitschr. Erzbergbau u. Metallhüttenwesen, v. 7, 108-113.

, and Sybel, C. von, 1955, Bestimmung der Spurenelemente im Bleiglanz: Metall, v. 9. 92. p. 91-96.

93. Heier, Knut, 1953, Clausthalite and selenium-bearing galena in Norway: Norsk. Geol Tids., v. 32, p. 228-231.

94. Hildebrand, W. F., and Scherrer, J. A., 1916, Recovery of gallium from spelter in the United States: Ind. Eng. Chem., v. 8, p. 225. 95. Hiller, J. E., and Smolczyk, H. G., 1953. Spektral analytische Untersuchungen am

Bleiglanz usw: Zeitschr. Elektrochem., v. 57. p. 50-58.

- 96. Hoehne, Karl, 1934, Quantitativ chemische und erzmikroskopische Bestimmung von Arsen. Antimon, Zinn, und Wismut in vorwiegend schlesischen Bleiglanzen: Chem. Erde, v. 9, 209-268.
- -, 1952, Die Verbreitung des Arsens auf den Erzlagerstätten des schlesischen Gebirges und sein Vorkommen in schlesischen Pyriten: Neues Jahrb. Mineral., Monatsh., p. 4-13.

98. Horalek, K., 1951, Kobalt aus Kiesabbränden : Angew. Chem., v. 63, p. 525-527. 99. Huttenhain, Hans, 1939, Die Antimonerzführung in westlichen Teile des Westerwaldes

und deren bergwirtschaftliche Bedeutung: Zeitschr. angew. Mineral., v. 1, p. 353-396.

100. Johansson, K., 1924, Bidrag till Gladhammar-gruvornas mineralogi : Ark. Kemi, Mineral., Geol., v. 9, no. 8.

101. Juretzka, Franz, 1915, Ueber Rohmaterialbeschaffung, Technik, und Rentabilitat bei der metallurgischen Cadmiumgewinnung: Metall u. Erz, v. 12, p. 235-241.

102. Kalb, Georg, 1952, Die Kristalltracht von Bravoit und Pyrit als Kriterium zur Beurteilung der Isomorphie: Neues Jahrb. Mineral., Monatsh., p. 90-93.

109. Kruglyn bility

A. Constant

103. Kerr, P. F

104. Kimura. E.

:05.

Am.  $M^{1-}$ 

german

Japan.

Divisio

\_\_\_, Na.

Geochet

the ecco

lation :

epither

New 3

berger

264 🤃

Tids ..

n Kut

St. 🖄

spectra

Kum

eini

Her

v. 8

Bu...

110. Kullerul

111. Kutina.

112

113.

114.

106. Kinoshi:

107. Kirkland

108. Kleinert

11

115. Launi  $\pi$ Let 116.\* τ.

117. Leuty . . .

118. Lie:

119. LCP

e÷;

120. Lun

120a. M

120b.

121. M

122. 3 123. ]

124.

125.'

ion von Spurenelementen in Mineralien;

the subscription of the

lie Fortschritte in der Erforschung der z in Mineralien und Erzen: Fortschr.

al- und Elementvergesellschaftung des Tauern): Tschermaks Mineral. Petrog.

- der Unwert der Spurenelement-Analyse und Petrogenese: Tschermaks Mineral.
- ide dissemination of some of the rarer common ores and minerals: Jour. Chem.
- lements in Oklahoma sphalerite: Okla,
- pyrite in some Eastern Canadian gold
- spectrographic study of platinum and of the Sudbury district, Ontario: Econ.
- some Canadian uranium and sulfide ores:
- bead method of spectrographic analysis in sulfide and uranium ores: Canadian
- on the properties of pyrite (III), Geol.
- md kristallchemischen Beziehungen von )5-707.
- n, Zn, Co, Ni, und Cu zu Pyrit und
- obalt und Nickel im Pyrit: Zeitschr.
- im Wüfenit der alpinen Blei-Zinklager-I. p. 690-715.
- urenelemente in Zinkblende: Metall, v.
- nische Analysenmethode zur schnellen n bleiglanz: Zeitschr. für Erzbergbau
- uantitativen spektrochemischen Analyse esen. v. 7, 108-113.
- renelemente im Bleiglanz : Metall, v. 9,
- ring galena in Norway: Norsk. Geol.
- covery of gallium from spelter in the
- ktral analytische Untersuchungen an ŝn-58.
- nkroskopische Bestimmung von Arsen,
- esischen Bleiglanzen: Chem. Erde, v.
- zlagerstätten des schlesischen Gebirges tes Jahrb. Mineral., Monatsh., p. 4-13. w. Chem., v. 63, p. 525-527.
- n westlichen Teile des Westerwaldes r. angew. Mineral., v. 1, p. 353-396.
- nas mineralogi: Ark. Kemi, Mineral., ng, Technik, und Rentabilitat bei der
- z. v. 12, p. 235-241.
- und Pyrit als Kriterium zur Beuronatsh., p. 90-93.

Construction of the second

103. Kerr, P. F., 1945, Cattierite and vaesite: New Co-Ni minerals from the Belgian Congo: Am. Mineral., v. 30, p. 483-497.

West of the second of the second second

- 104. Kimura, Kenjira, and Koyama, Yorohiko, 1936, Spectrographic detection of gallium, germanium, indium, rhenium, and thallium in various Japanese minerals: Chem. Soc. Japan, Jour., v. 57, p. 1190-1194; from translation prepared by Engineer Intelligence Division, US Army Forces, Far East.
- -, Nagashima, Otokichi, Saito, Kazuo, Shima, Makoto, and Nakai, Shigetsugu, 1952, 105. -Geochemical study of germanium. I. Several aspects on the general consideration of the occurrence of germanium: Chem. Soc. Japan, Jour., v. 73, p. 589-591; from translation prepared by Engineer Intelligence Division, U. S. Army Forces, Far East.
- 106. Kinoshita, Kameki, and Muta, Kunihiko, 1950, Minor elements in the minerals from the epithermal deposits: Geol. Soc. Japan, Jour., v. 56, p. 423-432.
- 107. Kirkland, J. B., 1892, Occurrence of gallium and indium in a blende from Peelwood, New South Wales: Australasian Assoc. Adv. Sci., v. 4, p. 266-267.
- 108. Kleinert, Reinhard, 1949, Gegenwärtiger Stand der Gewinnung von Indium aus Rammelsberger Erz: Zeitschr. Erzbergbau u. Metallhüttenw., v. 2, p. 14-18.
- 109. Kruglyakova, G. I. and Yasinskaya, A. A., 1952, The problem of the magnetic susceptibility of certain sulfides: Obshch. Mineralog. Sbornik, Lvovskoe geol., no. 6, p. 257-264 (in Russian).
- 110. Kullerud, Gunnar, 1953, The FeS-ZnS system, a geological thermometer: Norsk geol. Tids., v. 32, p. 61-147.
- 111. Kutina, Jan, 1949, Chemismus rudnich žil ze štoly Sv. Antonina Paduánského od Poličan u Kutné Hory na zárkladě spektrálnich analys. (Chemistry of the orc veins from the St. Anthony of Padua Gallery at Policany near Kutná Hora (Bohemia), based on spectral analyses): Česke akad., Rozpravy, v. 59, no. 24, 25 pp.; Acad. Tchèque Sci., Bull. Internatl. 1959, p. 325-344. (in English)
- -, 1953a, Geochemische Bemerkungen zu den Zinkblenden aus dem Erzgebiet von 112. -Kutná Hora (Kuttenberg) in der Tschechoslowakei: Chem. Erde, v. 16, p. 316-326.
- -, 1953b, Mikroskopischer und spektrographischer Beitrag zur Frage der Entstehung 113. einiger Kolloidalstrukturen von Zinkblende und Wurtzit: Geologie, v. 1, p. 436-452.
- -, 1953c, Selektive Verdrängung der inneren Teile der Arsenkieskristalle usw. aus 114. Horni Mala Upa (Ober-Kleinaupa), Riesengebirge: Neues Jahrb. Mineral., Abhandl., v. 86, p. 86-102.
- Launay, L. de, and Urbain, G., 1910, Recherches sur la métallogénie des blendes et des mineraux qui en derivent: Soc. géol. France, Bull., v. 10, p. 787-795.
- 116.\* Lebedev, L. M., 1954, Öolitic metacolloidal sphalerite: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R., v. 95, p. 631-633; Chem. Abs., v. 48, p. 13-553.
- 117. Leutwein, Friedrich, and Herrmann, A. G., 1954, Kristallchemische und geochemische Untersuchungen ueber Vorkommen und Verteilung des Wismuts im Bleiglanz der kiesigblenden Formation des Freiberger Gangreviers: Geologie, v. 3, p. 1039-1056.
- 118. Llord y Gamboa, R., 1909, Minerales zinciferos de Picos de Europa-estudio quimico: Soc. espanola fis. quim, Anal, v. 7, p. 195-214.
- Lopez de Azcona, J. M., 1942, Estudio geoquimico de los minerales de plomo: Ion (Rev. española quim. apl.), v. 2, p. 446-457.
- 120. Lünde, G., 1927, Über das Vorkommen des Platins in norwegischer Gesteinen und Mineralien: Zeitschr. anorg. allgem. Chem., v. 161, p. 1-20.
- 120a. Marks, G. W., and Hall, H. T. (1946), A method for the spectrochemical determination of germanium, tin, and lead in ore samples: U. S. Bur. Mines, Rept. Invest. no. 3965, 38 pp.
- -, and Jones, B. N. (1948), Method for the spectrochemical determination of beryl-120b. lium, cadmium, zinc, and indium in ore samples: U. S. Bur. Mines Rept. Invest. 4363, 27 pp.
- 121. McLellan, R. D., 1945, The occurrence and hardness of indium: Am. Mineral., v. 30, p. 635-638.
- 122. Meigen, W., and Scharschmidt, O., 1924, Analysen einiger cadmiumhaltiger Zinkerze: Zeitschr. anal. Chem., v. 64, p. 212-216.
- 123. Minguzzi, Carlo, 1947, Dosatura spettrografica dell oro in piriti italiane: Soc. Toscana Sci. Nat. Atti., Mem., v. 54, p. 210-243.
- 124. --, and Talluri, Anna, 1951, Indagini e considerazioni sulla presenza e sulla distribuzione dei constituenti minori nelle pyriti: Soc. Toscana Sci. Nat. Atti., Mem., v. 58, p. 3-34.
- 125.\* Morinaga, Kenichi (1952), Trace elements in sphalerites from Japan: Nagoya Inst. Technol., Bull. (Anniversary Issue), v. 4, p. 228-231; through Chem. Abs., v. 48, p. 2526 (1954).

and the second second

1022

Contraction of the local distance of the loc

- 126. Morris, D. F. C., and Brewer, F. M., 1954, The occurrence of gallium in blende: Geochim et Cosmochim. Acta, v. 5, p. 134-141.
- 127. —, and Brewer, F. M., 1955, The spectrochemical determination of gallium in blendes Spectrochim. Acta, v. 7, p. 88-90.
- 128. Moritz, H., 1933, Die sulfidische Erze der Tsumeb-Mine von Ausgehenden bis zur XVI Sohle (-460 m.): Neues Jahrb. Mineral., Geol., Beil.-Bd., v. 67A, p. 118-153.
- 129. Murakami, Yukio, 1950, Thallium in minerals in Japan: Chem. Soc. Japan, Bull., v. 23. p. 1-2.
- Nair, C. K. N., and Rajan, K. S., 1954, Extraction of germanium from Indian minerals Jour. Sci. Ind. Research (India), v. 13B, pp. 37-43.
- 131. Nakabe, Sanai, 1951, Metallurgy of cobalt production from cupriferous pyrite: Jour. Metals, v. 3, p. 445-451.
- 132. Neuhaus, A., 1942, Uber die Arsenführung der dichten Schwefelkiese (Melnikowit-Pyrite, Gelpyrite) von Wiesloch, Baden, und Deutsch-Bleischarley, Oberschlesien: Metall. u. Erz, v. 39, p. 157-189.
- 133. Newhouse, W. H., 1934, The source of V, Mo, W, and Cr in oxidized deposits: Am. Mineral., v. 19, p. 209-220.
- 134. Nickel, E. H., 1954, The distribution of iron, manganese, nickel, and cobalt between co-existing pyrite and biotite in wallrock alteration : Am. Mineral, v. 39, p. 494-503.
- 135. Noddack, Ida, 1936, Über die Allgegenwart der chemischen Elemente: Angew. Chem., v. 49, p. 835-841.
- 136. —, and Noddack, Walter, 1931, Die Geochemie des Rheniums: Zeitschr. phys. Chem., v. 154A, p. 207-244.
- 137. Oftedal, Ivar, 1939, On the occurrence of tin in Norwegian minerals: Norsk Geol. Tids. v. 19, p. 314-325.
- 138. —, 1940, Untersuchungen uber die Nebenbestandteile von Erzmineralien norwegischer zinkblände-führender Vorkommen: Norsk. Videnskap. Akad., Skrifter, Mat.-Naturwiss. Kl., No. 8, 103 pp.
- 139. —, 1942, Om betingelsane for oktaedrisk delbarheit hos vismutrik blyglans: Norsk Geol. Tids., v. 22, p. 61-68 (Pub. 1943).
- Onishi, Hiroshi, and Sandell, E. B., 1955, Geochemistry of arsenic: Geochim. et Cosmochim. Acta, v. 7, p. 1-33.
   Orliac, Marcel, 1949, Dosages d'éléments chimiques dispersés dans les minerais—applica-
- 141. Orliac, Marcel, 1949, Dosages d'éléments chimiques dispersés dans les minerais—application à la recherche de leurs supports minéralogiques: Soc. française mineral. crist. Bull., v. 72, p. 9–188.
- 142. Papish, Jacob., 1928, New occurrences of germanium, I: ECON. GEOL., v. 23, p. 660-670.
- 143. —, and Stilson, C. B. (1930), Occurrence of gallium in zinc minerals: Am. Mineral. v. 15, p. 521-527.
- 144. Pauling, Linus, 1940, The nature of the chemical bond and the structures of molecules and crystals: Ithaca, Cornell Univ. Press, 450 p.
- 145. Pina de Rubies, S., and Doetsch, J., 1935, Bogenspektral-analytisch nachweisbare Elemente in Bleimineralien: Zeitschr. anorg. allgem. Chem., v. 222, p. 107-112.
- 146. —, and Lopez de Azcona, J. M., 1936, Analisa espectral de la blende por concentracion piroelectrica: Soc. española fis. quim., Anal., v. 34, p. 357-314.
- 147. —, and Lopez de Azcona, J. M., 1937, Relacion entre el color y la composicion espectroquimica de la blende de Aliva, Picos de Europa: Soc. española fis. quim., Anal., v. 35, p. 180-186.
- 148. Pouba, Z., 1951, The lead-zinc ores from the northern foot of the Muráň Plateau, central Slovakia: Acad. Tchèque Sci., Bull. Internatl., Classe sci., math., nat., et méd., v. 52, p. 503-521 (Pub. 1953).
- 149. Prokopenko, N. M., 1941a, Occurrence of indium in various metallogenetic cycles of the U.S.S.R.: Acad. sci. U.R.S.S., Compt. rend., v. 31, p. 19-21.
- 150. —, 1941b, Prospecting evidence for indium: Acad. sci. U.R.S.S., Compt. rend, v. 31. p. 16-18.
- 151. —, 1941c, Principal stages in the history of indium in the earth's crust: Acad. sci. U.R.S.S., Compt. rend., v. 31, p. 903-906.
- 152. —, 1941d, Distribution of indium in Transbaikal: Acad. sci. U.R.S.S., Compt. rend., v. 31, p. 907–908.
- 153. Ramdohr, Paul, 1950, Die Erzmineralien und ihre Verwachsungen: Akademie-Verlag. Berlin, 826 p.
- 154. Rankama, Kalervo, 1944, The geochemistry of tantalum: Comm. géol. Finlande, Bull. no. 133, 78 p.
- 155. —, 1948, The geochemistry of niobium: Acad. Sci. Fennicae, Ann., Ser. A, III, no. 13, 57 p.

MINOE

36. Rimatori, C., 1961

158. Ringwood, A. E.

254. 160. Rösler, H.-J.

: 57.

159.

161.

167.

168.

169.

170.

172.

173.

174.

175.

179

180.

181.

nat., v. 13, p. 2

Rend. Cl. sci. :

netic crystalli.

Acta, v. 7. p.

lization, IL 11

Ksar Noghal

ostbayerische

Japan : Fac

géol. Finlan

Cosmochim

Mineralien

ores of the

deposits an

renden Ni

Erde, v. -

Kies-erzer.

p. 1-22.

-, and

Platinmet

Platinschr 171. Schroll, Eri

Oester:

\_\_\_\_\_, 1953

7ink La

Zinkble:

Metallp

in ores

Neues

Shaw. D.

p. 118-

**-.** 19

Jour.

p. 280

p. 81

Cones

Surve

182. Skerl. A

183.\* Soltsie

184. Stadnie

185. Stoiber

-, 19

176. Schwartz

177. Scutt. W

178. Seeliger.

-, 195

-, 1953

Mitt..

Akad. W

-, 192<u>9</u>5

. 1930.

Rost, F., 193.

162. Saito, Taday

163. Saksela, Marti

164. Sandell, E. B

165. Schmidt. Ma

166. Schneiderhöh

1905, Ana

THER

currence of gallium in blende: Geochim,

cal determination of gallium in blendes:

- eb-Mine von Ausgehenden bis zur XVI Beil.-Bd., v. 67A, p. 118-153. Japan: Chem. Soc. Japan, Bull., v. 23.
- on of germanium from Indian minerals:
- duction from cupriferous pyrite: Jour.
- chten Schwefelkiese (Melnikowit-Pyrite, -Bleischarley, Oberschlesien: Metall. u.
- W and Cr in oxidized deposits: Am.
- manganese, nickel, and cobalt between on: Am. Mineral, v. 39, p. 494-503.
- zhemischen Elemente: Angew. Chem., v.
- e des Rheniums: Zeitschr. phys. Chem.,
- Norwegian minerals: Norsk Geol. Tids.,
- andteile von Erzmineralien norwegischer enskap. Akad., Skrifter, Mat.-Naturwiss.
- lbarheit hos vismutrik blyglans: Norsk
- lemistry of arsenic: Geochim. et Cosmo-
- ues dispersés dans les minerais—applicaques: Soc. française mineral. crist. Bull.,
- num, I: Econ. Geol., v. 23, p. 660-670. gallium in zinc minerals: Am. Mineral.,
- al bond and the structures of molecules p.
- pektral-analytisch nachweisbare Elemente em., v. 222, p. 107–112.
- espectral de la blende por concentracion 34, p. 357-314.
- lacion entre el color y la composicion Europa: Soc. española fis. quim., Anal.,
- thern foot of the Murán Plateau, central Classe sci., math., nat., et méd., v. 52,
- n in various metallogenetic cycles of the . 31. p. 19-21.
- Acalt sci. U.R.S.S., Compt. rend, v. 31.
- indium in the earth's crust: Acad. sci.
- ikal Acad. sci. U.R.S.S., Compt. rend.,
- ihre Verwachsungen: Akademie-Verlag,
- ntalum: Comm. géol. Finlande, Bull. no.
- I. Sci. Fennicae, Ann., Ser. A, III, no.

MINOR ELEMENTS IN SOME SULFIDE MINERALS

1023

- 156. Rimatori, C., 1904, Su alcune blende di Sardegna: Accad. Lincei., Rend. Cl. sci. fis. mat. nat., v. 13, p. 277-285.
- 157. —, 1905, Analisi ponderale e spettroscopica di nuova blende sarde., Accad. Lincei, Rend. Cl. sci. fis. mat. nat., v. 14, p. 688–696. 158. Ringwood, A. E., 1954, The principles governing trace element behaviour during mag-
- 159. —, 1955, The principles governing trace element behaviour during magmatic crystallization, II, The role of complex formation: Geochim. et Cosmochim. Acta, v. 7, p. 242-254.
- 160. Rösler, H.-J., 1953, Molybdän, Vanadin, und andere Elemente im Bleiglanz der Grube Ksar Noghal, Franz.-Morokko: Geologie, v. 2, p. 142–145.
- 161. Rost, F., 1939, Spektralanalytische Untersuchungen an sulfidischen Erzlagerstätten des ostbayerischen Grenzgebirges: Zeitschr. angew. Mineral., v. 2, p. 1–27.
- 162. Saito, Tadao, 1953, Minor elements in ore minerals of the Yakumo Mine, Hokkaido, Japan: Fac. Sci. Hokkaido Univ., Jour., Ser. IV, v. 8, p. 267-276.
- 163. Saksela, Martti, 1951, Zür Mineralogie und Entstehung der Pitkaränta Erze: Comm. géol. Finlande, Bull. no. 154, p. 181–231.
- 164. Sandell, E. B., and Kuroda, P. K., 1954, Geochemistry of molybdenum: Geochim. et Cosmochim. Acta, v. 6, p. 35-63.
- 165. Schmidt, Max, 1925, Beitrag zur Bestimmung kleiner Selenmengen in sulfidischen Mineralien: Metall u. Erz, v. 22, p. 511-512.
- 166. Schneiderhöhn, H., 1929a, The mineragraphy and spectrography of the sulfidic platinum ores of the Bushveld Complex, chap. XVII, p. 206-246, in Wagner, P. A., The platinum deposits and mines of South Africa.
- 167. —, 1929b, Erz-mikroskopische und spektrographische Untersuchung von platinfuhrenden Nickelmagnetiesgesteinen des Bushveld Igneous Complex, Transvaal: Chem. Erde, v. 4, p. 252-286.
  168. —, 1930, Mineralchemische und mikroscopische Beobachtungen an Blei-zink-und
- 168. —, 1930, Mineralchemische und mikroscopische Beobachtungen an Blei-zink-und Kies-erzen der Deutsch-Bleischarley Grube, Oberschlesien: Chem. Erde, v. 5, p. 385-395.
- 169. —, 1943, Mineraleinschüsse in Erzmineralien: Neues Jahrb. Mineral. Geol., Abt. A., p. 1-22.
- 170. —, and Moritz, H., 1931, Spektrographische Untersuchungen über die Verteilung der Platinmetalle in den Mineralien der südafrikanischen Platinlagerstätten: Festschr. d. Platinschmelze G. Siebert, Hanau, p. 257–287.
- 171. Schroll, Erich, 1950, Spurenelementparagenese (Mikroparagenese) ostalpiner Zinkblenden: Oesterr. Akad. Wiss. Anz. math.-naturw. Kl., p. 21-25.
- 172. —, 1951, Spurenelementparagenese (Mikroparagenese) ostalpiner Bleiglanze: Oesterr. Akad. Wiss. Anz. math.-naturw. Kl., p. 6-12.
- 173. —, 1953a, Über Minerale und Spurenelemente, Vererzung und Entstehung der Blei-Zink Lagerstätte Bleiberg-Kreuth, Kärnten, Österreich: Österreich. mineralog. Ges., Mitt., Sonderheft no. 2, p. 1-60.
- 174. —, 1953b, Über Unterschiede im Spurengehalt bei Wurtziten, Schalenblenden, und Zinkblenden: Osterr. Akad. Wiss., Sitzber. Math-nat Kl., Abt. I, v. 162, p. 305-332.
- 175. ——, 1955, Über das Vorkommen einiger Spurenmetalle in Blei-Zink-Erzen der ostalpinen Metallprovinz: Tschermaks Mineralog. petrog. Mitt., v. 5, p. 183–208.
- 176. Schwartz, G. M., 1951, Classification and definitions of textures and mineral structures in ores: Econ. GEOL., v. 46, p. 578-591.
- 177. Scutt, Walter, 1926, Germanium in a British mineral: Phil. Mag., v. 1, p. 1007-1009.
- 178. Seeliger, Erich, 1954, Ein neues Vorkommen von Hutchinsonit in Wiesloch in Baden: Neues Jahrb. Mineral., Abh., v. 86, p. 163–178.
- 179. Shaw, D. M., 1952a, The geochemistry of thallium : Geochim. et Cosmochim. Acta, v. 2, p. 118-154.
- 180. —, 1952b, The geochemistry of indium : Geochim. et Cosmochim. Acta, v. 2, p. 185-206. 181. —, 1953. The camouflage principle and trace element distribution in magmatic minerals :
- 181. —, 1953, The camouflage principle and trace element distribution in magmatic minerals: Jour. Geol., v. 61, p. 142-151.
- Skerl, A. C., 1934, Vanadium at the Rhodesia Broken Hill: Mining Mag., v. 50, no. 5, p. 280-283.
- 183.\* Soltsien, P., 1886, Quecksilber-gehalt asturischer Zinkblenden: Arkiv. Pharmacie, v. 24, p. 800; through Neues Jahrb. Mineral., Geol., Ref. 2, p. 272, 1887.
- 184. Stadnichenko, Taisia, Murata, K. J., Zubovic, Peter. and Hufschmidt, E. L., 1953, Concentration of germanium in the ash of American coals: progress rept. U. S. Geol. Survey Circ. 272, 34 p.
- 185. Stoiber, R. E., 1940, Minor elements in sphalerite : ECON. GEOL., v. 35, p. 501-519.

<sup>N</sup> Significa

-24-54-5-5-

186. Strickland, E. H., 1955, A rapid method for the determination of microgram quantitie. of germanium: The Analyst, v. 80, p. 548-551.

- 187. Strock, L. W., 1936, Zur Geochemie de Lithiums: Ges. Wiss. Göttingen, Nachr., Math phys. Klasse, Fachgr. IV, Geol. u. Mineral., v. 1, p. 171-204.
- 188. —, 1945, Quantitative spectrographic determination of minor elements in zinc sulphid. ores: Am. Inst. Mining Met. Engrs., Techn. Publ. no. 1866, 22 p.
   189. Szadeczky-Kardoss, Elemer, 1954, Vorläufiges uber Anionpotentiale und Verbindungstetentiale: Acad. Sci. Hung., Acta Geol., v. 2, p. 285-298.
- 190. Takenaka, Shunzo, 1954, Studies on the pyrrhotite deposits in Japan. III. Minor components in pyrrhotite: Japanese Assoc. Mineralogists, Petrologists, Econ. Geologist. Journ., v. 38, p. 218-222 (English abstract).
- 191. Talluri, Anna, 1951, Dosatura spettrografica dell'arsenico in piriti italiane: Soc. Toscara
- Sci. nat. Atti, Mem., v. 58, p. 3-19. 192. Tanaka, Nobuyuki, 1943, Studies on nickel and cobalt in arsenopyrites. I. Estimation and determination of cobalt in some arsenopyrites: Chem. Soc. Japan, Bull., v. 18 p. 436-446.

Abstract

Introduct

Trends in

Termi

Aims

Roc

Me

P!:::

ME

Su

E:

Summ

Class

Age

Dist

Sour

W.a

De

Sele

noie

Knowled

- 193. Tassel, Rene van, 1954, Le mispickel du Brabant: Vol. Jubilaire Victor van Straelen Inst. roy. sci. nat. Belg., v. 1, p. 95-113. 194. Taylor, J. H., 1954, The lead-zinc-vanadium deposits at Broken Hill, Northern Rhodesia
- Colonial Geology and Mineral Resources, v. 4, p. 335-365.
- 195. Tischendorf, Gerhard, 1955. Paragenetische und tektonische Untersuchungen auf Gangen des fluorbarytischen Bleiformation Freibergs: Freiberger Forschungehefte v. C 18. p 1 - 129.
- 196. Tornquist, A., 1930, Der Arsengehalt in ostalpinen apomagmatischen Blenden und Bleiglanzen: Geol. Bundesanstalt (Austria), Verhandl., p. 197-202.
- 197.\* Tsuge, Toshihisa, and Terada, Shizuo, 1950, Selenium contents of pyrites and soils of Japan: Jour. Agric. Chem. Soc. Japan, v. 23, p. 421-425; Chem. Abs., v. 45, p. 10152. 1951.
- 198. Urbain, G., 1909, Analyse spectrographique des blendes: Compt. rend., v. 149, p. 602-603.
- 199. Blondel, and Obiedoff, 1910, Extraction du germanium des blendes: Compt. rend. v. 150, p. 1758-1760.
- del Campo, A., and Scal, C., 1909, Estudio espectrografico de las blendas: presencia del germanio en la de Picos de Europa: Soc. españa fis. quim. Anal., v. 7. p. 432-442. 200.
- 201. Vähätalo, V. O., 1953, The geology of the Outokumpu ore deposit in Finland: Comm geol. Finlande Bull. no. 164, 98 p.
- 202.\* Vakhrushev, G. V., 1940, Exploration for rare elements in Bashkiriya: Uchenye Zapiski Saratov Univ., v. 15, no. 1, p. 124-126; through Chem. Abs., v. 35, p. 6541. 1946
- 203. Vendel, M., 1955, Die Substituierbarkeit der Ionen und Atomen von geochemischem Gesichtspunkte, I: Acad. Sci. Hung., Acta Geol., v. 3. p. 245-300.
- 204. Vogel, Otto, 1894, Uber die Anwendung der Leuchtgassauerstoffflamme zu spektralanalytische Mineraluntersuchungen: Zeitschr. anorg. allgem. Chem., v. 5, p. 42-62.

205. Vogt, J. H. L., 1893, Bildung von Erzlagerstätten durch Differentiationsprocesse in basischen Eruptivmagma: Zeitschr. prakt. Geol., v. 1, p. 4-11, 125-143, 257-284.

206. Wahlstrom, E. C., 1937, Octahedral parting on galena from Boulder County, Colorado: Am. Mineral., v. 22, p. 906-911.

207. Waring, W. G., 1917, The zinc ores of the Joplin district, their composition, character. and variation: Am. Inst. Mining and Met. Engrs. Trans., v. 57, p. 657-670.

208. Warren, H. V., and Thompson, R. M., 1945, Sphalerites from western Canada: Ecox. GEOL., v. 40, p. 309-335.

209. Wasserstein, Benno., 1945, Gcol. Soc. S. Africa Proc., p. XC-XCI.

- 210. -, 1951, Precision lattice measurements of galena: Am. Mineral., v. 36, p. 102-115. 211. Williams, K. T., and Byers, H. G., 1934, Occurrence of selenium in pyrites: Ind. Eng. Chem., Anal. Ed., v. 6, p. 296-297.
- 212. Yanishevsky, E. M., 1934, The question of the joint occurrence of molybdenum and vanadium in the oxidation zone of ore deposits : Problemy Soviet Geol., v. 2, p. 135-141.
- -, and Razumnaya, E. G., 1938, Genesis of the wulfenites of Southern Darbaza 213. (northern Tadzhikistan): Problemy Soviet Geol., v. 8, No. 5, p. 44-64. 214. Zak, Lubor, 1951, Sphalerite and apatite from Chvaletice, E. Bohemia: Acad. Tchèque
- Sci., Bull. Internatl. Classe sci., math., nat. e méd., v. 52, p. 53-68 (Pub. 1953). 215. Zvyagintzev, O. E., and Filippov., A. N., 1935, Ueber den Platingehalt in Mineralien der Sulfiderze: Acad. sci. U.R.S.S., Compt. rend., v. 1, p. 136-139.

1024